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1. An introduction to Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

The hospitals provide a full
range of high quality NHS
health care services.
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Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust manages Warrington Hospital, Halton General
Hospital and the Houghton Hall intermediate care
facility in the North West of England.
The Trust provides high quality health care services
across the towns of Warrington, Runcorn (where Halton
General Hospital is based), Widnes and the surrounding
areas. It became an NHS Foundation Trust on 1st
December 2008 and changed it’s name from North
Cheshire Hospitals NHS Trust.

Warrington Hospital
Warrington Hospital is a major general hospital which
is home to a wide range of NHS services. There are
over 500 inpatient beds at the hospital.
It focuses on emergency and urgent care and has all the
back-up services required to treat patients with a range
of complex medical and surgical conditions. The hospital
has undergone significant development work over the
past 20 years and it provides a full range of expert
inpatient and outpatient services.
Warrington Hospital is home to the Trust’s accident
and emergency department and maternity services. If
your surgery or care might require extra support or a
high level of specialist care it is likely to be carried out at
Warrington. The hospital also provides specialist critical
care, stroke, cardiac and surgical units.
• Services provided at Warrington Hospital include:
Accident and Emergency, surgical services, general
medicine, children’s services, intensive care, cardiac
care, stroke care, cancer care, elderly care, obstetrics
(maternity), gynaecology, orthopaedic, critical care,
genito-urinary medicine and ophthalmology.
• Support services include:
Occupational therapy, pathology, physiotherapy,
pharmacy, dietetics, outpatient services, diagnostic
services, radiology and a range of specialist
nursing services.

Halton General Hospital

A range of care for medical and surgical conditions
is provided from the hospital and it houses a mix
of inpatient and outpatient services. It provides a
comfortable environment for expert surgical care.
If your surgery is non-complex and does not require a
long hospital stay it is likely to be carried out at Halton
General Hospital.
The hospital provides outpatient clinics in all Trust
specialties to ensure that people can access their
initial appointment close to home. The hospital also
has a minor injuries unit which provides a range of
minor emergency care services for local people. An
intermediate care ‘step down’ ward at the hospital
is designed for patients who have had surgery or
emergency medical care but who require some further
support before going home.
• Services provided at Halton General Hospital include:
General surgery, urology, minor injuries (not accident
and emergency), endoscopy, step-down care, cancer
care, outpatient services and genito-urinary medicine.
• Support services include:
Occupational therapy, physiotherapy, dietetics,
outpatient services, pharmacy, diagnostic services,
radiology and a range of specialist nursing services.

Houghton Hall
Houghton Hall in Warrington is a new intermediate
care facility managed and run by the Trust in
partnership with the Community Services Unit of NHS
Warrington and Warrington Borough Council Social
Services. It provides 39 beds in total.
35 of the beds are used for ‘step down’ care for patients
who have completed their acute care at Warrington
Hospital following illness or surgery but who require high
quality therapy and rehabilitation before going back
home or to community care.
Four beds are used for step up care – providing a facility
for local GPs to send patients from the community who
need some support to help manage their condition and
prevent them from needing a longer acute hospital stay.

Halton General Hospital in Runcorn provides a wide
range of NHS services with a focus on planned
specialist surgery. There are around 60 inpatient beds
at the hospital.
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2. Chairman’s Statement

18 week waits are a remarkable
achievement, only a few years
ago people waited well over a
year for surgery
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Welcome to the first annual report and accounts
for the new Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust.
The Trust came into being after our hospitals were
authorised as an NHS Foundation Trust on 1st December
2008. Foundation status was a major achievement for
the Trust and a testament to the quality of the services
that we provide. The assessment process looked at a
wide range of factors across the Trust with an emphasis
on the quality and safety of our services as well as our
finance and long-term plans.
Becoming an NHS Foundation Trust has changed the
way we work across the organisation as well as my role
as Chairman. We are now working with our elected
public and staff Governors, as well as nominated partner
Governors, in our new Governors’ Council. We have a
committed and challenging group of Governors and as
their role develops over the coming months and years
I feel they will play a huge role in representing people
from across the areas that we serve and developing links
with our membership.
Since December 1st we have been working with the
Governors on an intensive induction programme and
have now started focusing their skills in a range of key
areas that include communicating with our 11,000
plus members, improving the patient and workforce
experience and statutory roles relating to remuneration
and governance. The real benefits of their work will come
to fruition in the following years, but I feel we have made
progress already as we adapt to this new way of working
with public, staff and partner representatives.
Following our authorisation in December we entered
one of the busiest periods in the hospitals’ history over
the winter months. Across the country accident and
emergency attendances and admissions rose to record
levels as the colder weather led to an increase in illness
in the community. We had some of our busiest days
on record during this period and I would like to thank
the staff across the hospitals for their commitment
and incredible hard work during this time. Their
efforts allowed us to cope with both the accident and
emergency work and the consequent admissions to our
wards and departments.
Despite this added pressure on the hospitals, one of the
most significant achievements during the year has been
the drop in waiting times that has meant that the Trust
achieved its 18 week target for treating patients which
includes the assessment, diagnosis and treatment itself.

This is a remarkable achievement when you consider
that only a few years ago waits could often be over a
year or even longer. It’s a change that has improved
access for patients to the care they need.
Patients expect to be treated quickly in facilities that
are modern and meet their healthcare needs. Since
December, and over the entire 2008-2009 year, we
have made massive strides in improving the hospital
environment with the provision of a range of new
facilities which have included new chemotherapy and
dialysis units at Halton General Hospital, the opening
of our Houghton Hall step-down care facility in
Warrington and the long-awaited Intensive Care Unit
at Warrington Hospital. These are excellent facilities in
their own right but together serve the overall purpose of
ensuring that patients from across the communities we
serve receive high quality care close to their homes in
state-of-the-art facilities.
Alongside these developments I am delighted that we
have achieved our infection control targets for the year.
We met our target of reducing MRSA bacteraemia to
12 cases over the year – reducing numbers by a third. In
fact, since December 2008 there was only one case of
MRSA bacteraemia in four months at the hospitals which
is an excellent achievement. Our record in reducing
Clostridium difficile numbers were even greater with
hospital acquired infection numbers dropping by 70
percent in a year from 372 cases to 112. Again, I would
like to thank all staff for their efforts and hard work in
improving our performance in this area. It is evidence
that the hospitals are improving standards all the time.
One case of infection is one too many but we have made
huge progress in these areas.
Over the year we also achieved our financial targets and
created a surplus of £2.6 million for the 12 months (£1.5
million in the period since authorisation). Looking to the
future, the Trust faces significant challenges in difficult
global economic times but we have a firm foundation on
which to move forward.

Allan Massey
Chairman
April 23rd 2009
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3. Directors’ Report

There has been a 64 percent
reduction in MRSA bacteraemia
numbers in two years
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3.1 Board of Directors
During the period 1st December 2008 to 31st March 2009, the following were members of the Trust’s Board of Directors.
Name
Allan Massey
Maureen Banner
Rory Adam
Allan Mackie
Clare Briegal
Carol Withenshaw
Catherine Beardshaw
Jonathan Stephens

Title
Chair
Vice Chair
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Non Executive Director
Chief Executive
Director of Finance and Deputy Chief Executive

Gordon Ramsden
Kathryn Holbourn
Sheila Samuels
Chris Knights
Simon Wright

Medical Director
Director of Nursing and Governance
Director of Human Resources and Organisational Development
Director of Business Development
Director of Operations

Notes

 eputy Chief
D
Executive from 1st
January 2009

Non-voting director
Non-voting director

Further details including biographies of the Board of Directors are given in Section 8 of this report.

3.2 Principal activities of the Trust during
the year
During the period 1st December 2008 to 31st March
2009, the Trust’s principal activity was the provision and
delivery of health services as required to be provided in
its Terms of Authorisation as an NHS Foundation Trust.

3.3 Financial Summary for 2008-2009
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
was granted Foundation Trust status from 1st December
2008, becoming the successor to North Cheshire
Hospitals NHS Trust.
As a Foundation Trust it is increasingly important
that the organisation’s finances are secure and that
it develops robust long-term financial plans that are
achievable and support future development. During the
Foundation Trust assessment process a key consideration
was the financial sustainability of the organisation, the
fact that the Trust was successful demonstrates the
confidence that there is in the future of the Trust.

For the four month period to March 31st 2009, the
Trust has achieved a surplus of £1.5 million (£2.6 million
for the full 12 month period) which is 2.4 % of turnover
and continues the good progress made in the previous
year 2007-2008. This surplus resulted from
both increased revenues through treating more
patients and the achievement of the Trust’s cost
improvement programme.
The above generated a cash surplus of £7.4 million in
the four months which the Trust used to invest in capital
schemes (£4.4 million), to pay its public dividend capital
(PDC) payment (£2.1 million) and to repay part of its
loans (£3.4 million – which included £1.5 million which
was repaid early).
Copies of the full accounts of the Trust are available on
the following websites:
• www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk
• www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
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3.4 Meeting infection control targets
It is important to highlight in particular the significant
progress the Trust has made in reducing the incidence
of healthcare associated infections both in terms of
the number of Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus
Aurelius (MRSA) bacteraemia cases and the number of
Clostridium difficile (C-diff) cases.
The Trust met its nationally set target of 12 cases of
MRSA bacteraemia between April 2008 and the end of
March 2009. Figures show that the hospitals, working in
partnership with primary care partners, have reduced the
number of cases at the hospitals by a third compared
to the previous year (2007-2008) when there were 18
cases in total. It represents a 64 percent reduction when
compared to figures from two years ago (2006-2007)
when 33 cases were reported at the Trust.
Numbers of C-diff at the Trust have also fallen
dramatically over the last year. There were 112 hospital
acquired cases of C-diff (an average of around nine per
month over the year) compared to 372 in the previous
12 months in 2007-2008 (an average of 31 cases
a month).

3.5 Healthcare Commission ratings
Prior to achieving Foundation Trust status, the
organisation in 2007-2008 was rated ‘good’ for quality
of services and ‘fair’ for use of resource / financial
performance in the annual healthcheck carried out by
the Healthcare Commission. The Trust is anticipating
it will be rated ‘good’ for both quality of service and
use of resources / financial performance based on its
performance over the year. The final ratings for 20082009 will be awarded and published later in 2009.

3.6 Clinical Activity and waiting times
During the year a significant increase in activity was
delivered - with growth in outpatient, emergency
inpatient and daycase treatments. This was driven by
the low waiting times associated with the delivery and
achievement of the 18 week referral to treatment target
milestones but also the increase in General Practice (GP)
referrals to the Trust’s services.
A summary of activity undertaken over the year
compared to the prior year is provided in the table below.
Figures are presented for the full calendar period April to
March for comparative purposes.
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Activity (spells, attendances, other)
2007/08
activity
Elective inpatients 7,154
Day cases
24,281
Emergency
40,387
inpatients
Outpatients
273,116
Accident and
95,965
Emergency
Total
440,903

2008/09
activity
6,983
26,537
42,392

% change

295,872
96,666

+8%
+1%

468,450

+6%

- 2%
+9%
+5%

In delivering the increase in activity, costs were
controlled to deliver the overall £1.51 million surplus
during the period.

3.7 Trust developments during the year
The Trust made a number of other important
developments during the year as part of enhancing its
infrastructure and clinical services. These include:
• Quality improvements - £1.2 million of revenue
funding was targeted at improving the quality of
services , and supported issues such as the investment
of £320,000 in a new CT scanner at Halton General
Hospital and a £400,000 investment in state of the art
endoscopy sterilisation facilities
• Step-down care - The establishment of intermediate
care services for patients in Warrington and Halton.
These new services included the opening of Houghton
Hall in Warrington and the continued funding of
intermediate care facilities at Halton General Hospital
• CANtreat – The opening in December of a new
Chemotherapy Unit at Halton General Hospital to
provide access to locally based cancer treatments to
patients from across Warrington and Halton. The Trust
provided £230,000 to the costs alongside funding from
the cancer charity CANtreat.

3.8 Principle risks facing the Trust
The Trust continues to face risks to achieving its strategic
objectives and developments and has established and
maintained a comprehensive Assurance Framework
and supporting Corporate Risk Register to identify,
understand and manage risk. The Assurance Framework
and Corporate Risk Register are subject to regular
review and appraisal to ensure risks and mitigation are
managed proactively.

The table below sets out a number of governance risks
that the Board of Directors considers to be of particular
significance.
Governance Risks
• Ability to achieve innovative service transition in
a changing economic environment requiring the
development and maintenance of partnerships
and skills that support the Trust’s business
through cooperation.
• Failure to implement all aspects of the Quality and
Safety Strategy.
• Access to the required capital resources required to
deliver an integrated Estates Strategy.
• Inadequate development of a patient
centred organisation.
• Failure to successfully implement an information
strategy to support current and future business
requirements and service delivery.
• Business impact of failure of emergency
preparedness arrangements to respond to major
outbreak or incident.
• Terms of Authorisation compromised due to the
ongoing challenge of maintaining compliance with
all national targets and standards. (failure to achieve
national performance indicators).
• Adverse publicity and business consequence due to a
major governance failure.
• Inadequate development of a fully engaged
Governors Council supported by the growth of a
representative membership.
Systems and controls have been established to manage the
risks, which are monitored by the Board on a regular basis.

3.9 Factors likely to affect the future
development and performance of the Trust
The Board of Directors has responsibility to implement
robust assurance, governance and performance
management arrangements to deliver its corporate
objectives, which it does through a number of assurance
and management committees and a rigorous and
regular analysis of risk.
As part of the annual planning requirements the Trust
must develop a three year strategic plan (referred to as
the annual plan) covering the period up to 2011-2012.
These medium-term plans contain a number of
assumptions including levels of income and expenditure
inflation and forecasts of the financial impact of
changes in clinical activity on income and costs. This
plan is reviewed periodically at board-level in the Trust
and revised, as required, to reflect updated information.

3.10 The year ahead
Looking ahead to 2009-2010, the Trust will be building
on the good results achieved during 2008-2009. This
includes sustaining strong financial performance and
investing in front line services to ensure the delivery of
continued improvements both in clinical quality and
patient and staff experience. In addition, the Trust will
further develop the Governors’ Council and grow the
public membership.
In support of the objective, the Trust is planning a £3.8
million surplus for the 2009-2010 financial year with
capital investment of £6 million.
The Trust is planning to deliver similar levels of clinical
activity to those delivered over the last 12 months and
in 2009-2010 there are no major services changes or
significant service developments planned. The focus for
the next 12 months being one of consolidation with
only some modest growth in the numbers of inpatients,
outpatients and Accident and Emergency attendances of
between 1% and 2%, which has been agreed with the
main primary care trust commissioners.
The financial plans for 2009-2010 include revenue
investments which recognise and address the main
service pressures experienced delivering the growth in
activity during 2008-2009. These investments include £2
million of additional bed capacity both throughout the
year and over the winter months, £0.6 million increased
nurse staffing in Accident and Emergency Department
and £0.4 million for domestic and cleaning.
In addition to these investments, cost savings and
efficiencies’ of £4.9 million (3 percent) must be
achieved, which account for the level of efficiency that
has been top sliced from the national tariff prices the
Trust is paid for the services it delivers. These savings
will be achieved from a range of measures including
procurement savings, drug prescribing efficiencies,
improved productivity and workforce redesign. The
Trust has robust plans and well established performance
monitoring processes in place to ensure these savings
are delivered.
The capital programme of £6 million includes around
£2.3 million for the upgrade of endoscopy facilities and
development of a new clinical assessment unit linked to
the accident and emergency department, both of which
will bring significant improvements for patients and staff.
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3.11 Serious untoward incidents involving
data loss
During the year there were no serious untoward incidents
involving data loss.

3.12 Trust employees
• Staff in post at 31st March 2009 - 3940 (3168 whole
time equivalent)
• Cumulative sickness over the full 2008-2009 year 4.95 percent
The Trust will face many challenges over the coming
years and continues to work to develop its staff and
services to enable them to be able to respond flexibly to
the future.
The hospitals would not be able to provide the high
quality services for which it is recognised without
the dedication, hard work and high standards of
professionalism demonstrated by all staff. The Trust
prides itself on its ability to attract the highest calibre
of staff and aims to provide an environment that
encourages staff to continuously develop and update
their skills.
Staff can access a range of benefits, including access to
onsite occupational health and counselling services and
a range of training and education opportunities. New
courses established over the year included a customer
care training course that is supporting work on quality
and safety.
The Trust is proud that its efforts to be a good employer
are recognised by the staff and a range of external
bodies and is an Improving Working Lives Practice Plus
employer. In the 2008 NHS Staff Opinion Survey results
improved or did not decrease in all survey areas when
compared to the 2007 survey and the Trust scored in the
top 20 percent of NHS Trusts in 11 areas of the survey.
It scored particularly well on the low number of staff
who have experienced bullying and harassment from
patients, relatives and other staff members – an area
where much work has been targeted over the last year.
Other areas amongst the top 20 percent in the NHS
included the percentage of staff feeling satisfied with the
quality of work and patient care they are able to deliver
and the percentage of staff appraised with personal
development plans in the previous 12 months.
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Although the results showed improvements overall, there
are still areas where work will be targeted in the future.
There were four areas of the survey where improvements
had been made but were in bottom 20 percent of NHS
Trust scores. This included ensuring that staff feel there
are good opportunities to develop their potential at work
and having a high quality of job design (such as clear job
content, feedback and staff involvement).
The Trust works closely with trade union staff
representatives and unions through its Joint Negotiating
and Consultative Committee. The group meets every
two months as a forum for consultation and negotiation
on a range of issues which are of common interest to
managers and employees. Full minutes of each meeting
are available through either trade union representatives
or the human resources department. The bi-monthly
meetings are supplemented by further sub-committee
meetings on specific topic items and ad-hoc meetings to
discuss developments and areas of concern.
In February the Trust held its first major staff awards
event – the Thank You Awards. Nominations were
received from staff and patients and winners included
nurses, pharmacists, theatre staff, domestic teams and
even an entire ward team. Over 250 staff were able to
attend the event and share best practice and celebrate
their achievements.
Communication with staff is vital and is provided in the
form of a quarterly newsletter ‘Link Up’ which provides
detailed features and information on key developments.
This is complemented by a weekly email bulletin called
‘The Week’ and a monthly team brief system, led by the
chief executive, which works by cascading information to
managers for dissemination across the hospital teams.
Over the coming year the role of its five staff governors
who were elected by staff as part of the Foundation
Trust governor elections will be developed. They have
a vital role in developing communications and helping
to ensure that all staff understand the role they play in
helping achieve the hospital’s medium and long
term strategy.

3.13 Equality and Diversity
Warrington and Halton Hospitals has policies and
procedures in place in relation to disabled employees
and equal opportunities, which set out how the Trust
recognises the needs of disabled people and how it will
respond to those needs as an employer and as a service
provider. These are widely available to staff through
the intranet, and advice is available through the human
resources lead for equality and diversity.
The Trust’s Disability Equality Scheme (20062010) can be found on the Trust’s website www.
warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk. Work is currently
being progressed to incorporate this document into
a Single Equality Scheme, which will cover all issues
associated with Equality and Diversity.
The Trust has established an Equality and Diversity
Sub-group that reports to the Patient and Workforce
Experience Committee. This forum considers all aspects
of equality including how to address barriers identified
to for disabled staff or service users or members of any
minority group. The Single Equality Scheme will build
on these foundations and will allow the move towards
developing policies and procedures that further reduce
these barriers.

3.14 Environmental, Social and
Community issues
The Trust is committed to energy conservation
and improving the environment. The approach to
environmental management is complex and covers
a range of areas that encompass recycling, waste
management, pollution control, energy and water
efficiency, transport and procurement.
To help deliver this vision for a reduced carbon footprint
a new Specialist Services Manager is to be appointed,
part of whose duties will included energy management.
Work with the NHS Sustainable Development Unit will
help ensure the hospitals meet the Climate Change Act
targets of 26 percent reduction in their carbon footprint
by 2020.

The Trust works to support these objectives through a
range of initiatives including the on-going development
of its green travel plans, use of local suppliers for goods
and services, encouraging staff and patients to observe
energy and water conservation activities and increasing
recycling and improved waste management.
The Trust has been awarded £1.1 million to invest in
energy saving schemes. £204,000 of this sum was
received during 2007-2008 with the balance in the
year. This allocation was the result of a successful bid to
the Department of Health’s Energy Sustainability Fund
and is being spent on replacing old, energy inefficient
steam raising boiler plant, with new modern medium
temperature water boilers. This bid was submitted
following a detailed energy study which considered
various ways of improving the provision of efficient
heating and hot water.

3.15 Statement on compliance with the
Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The Trust Board seeks to comply with the NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance and as a
new Foundation Trust has established or is
developing processes to enable it to comply with the
code provisions.
Throughout the process of moving towards NHS
Foundation Trust status in the first part of 2008-2009,
the Trust has tested the balance of its Board of Directors,
established and developed the role of its Non Executive
Directors and tested the governance structures across the
trust. This has led to the development of new systems
where appropriate and design of new committee
structures that allow the newly elected Governors to play
their key role in the governance work of the Trust and
establish communications with the membership.
As a new NHS Foundation Trust, Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust will continue to test and
carefully monitor its compliance with all aspects of the
Code of Governance.
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4. Operational Review 2008/2009

From birth through to palliative
care – patients are beneﬁtting
from new forms of treatment at
the hospitals.
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The Trust has successfully delivered all of the infection
and activity performance targets set by the Department
of Health in 2008-2009.
Healthcare Associated Infection targets:
Target Number
MRSA bacteraemia
Clostridium difficile
• Hospital Acquired
• Total (including
community
acquired)

12
312

Actual
Number
12
112

384

177

Patients using the Trust are also benefiting from some
of the lowest waiting times for surgery in the North West
region after a significant drop in average waits over the
last year.
Activity Targets
Achieve the 18 week milestone target of:
• 85 percent for admitted patients
✓ Achieved
• 90 percent for non admitted patients ✓ Achieved
Urgent cancer referrals receiving
✓ Achieved
treatment within 62 days
Cancer patients receiving treatment
✓ Achieved
within 31 days of diagnosis.
Urgent cancer referral seen within
✓ Achieved
2 weeks
68 percent of heart attack patients
✓ Achieved
receive thrombolysis within 60 minutes
of call.
98 percent of A&E Patients discharged/ ✓ Achieved
admitted within 4 hours

4.1 Headline achievements
Some of the headline achievements in 2008/2009 are
presented below as a series of in focus case studies
looking at areas of work that are key to patients
and staff.

Improving quality
Reducing infection at the hospitals
The hospitals met its nationally set target of having
no more than 12 cases of MRSA bacteraemia between
April 2008 and the end of March 2009. Numbers of
the infection at the hospitals have now dropped by 64
percent in two years.
Figures show that the hospitals, working in partnership
with Primary Care, have reduced the number of cases
of MRSA by a third on the previous year (2007-2008)
when there were 18 in total. It represents a 64 percent
drop when compared to figures from two years ago
(2006-2007) when 33 cases of MRSA were reported at
the Trust.
The Trust has taken steps over the last year such as
putting screening in place for MRSA for all patients
having planned surgery. Patients who are naturally
colonised with MRSA can then be identified in advance
and steps taken to reduce the risk of any infection
occurring. This has complemented other infection control
measures such as improved handwashing, ongoing
auditing of compliance with infection policies, a ‘bare
below the elbows’ uniform policy and strict guidelines
on restricting the use of antibiotics that can trigger
infections like C-difficile.
Much work has been carried out by the hospitals in
partnership with GPs and other healthcare providers in
the community around antibiotic usage. Numbers of
C-diff infections at the Trust have also fallen dramatically
over the last year. There were 112 hospital acquired
cases of C-diff (an average of around nine per month
over the year) compared to 372 in the previous 12
months in 2006-2007 (an average of 31 cases a month).
“We hope that meeting our challenging target
around MRSA numbers is a sign to local people
about the improvements we have made at their
hospitals,” said Catherine Beardshaw, chief executive
at the Trust, “We have been working incredibly hard
to meet these targets with our partners. We’ve made
good progress and now have a low level of infection
but we can still reduce the levels further and that is
our aim for this year.”
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Delivering care in new ways
Supporting our patients with step-down care
The Trust opened its new step-down and step-up care
facility at Houghton Hall in Warrington in December
2008, complementing a new model of intermediate
care for local patients that had been piloted at Halton
General Hospital since November 2007.
Houghton Hall provides first class patient care in the
community for patients who require further therapy,
rehabilitation and support following a hospital stay in a
move away from traditional ways of working.
Houghton Hall is a former nursing home in Orford that
the Trust has converted to create a high quality setting
for this new style of care. It is managed by the hospital
which has recruited a team of dedicated nursing and
support staff who are based at the unit. It is run in
partnership with the Community Services Unit of NHS
Warrington to ensure that patients get all the services
they require to enable them to return to the community
following illness or surgery.
It provides 39 beds in total for Warrington patients.
35 of the beds are for step down care for patients who
have completed their acute care at Warrington Hospital
but who require high quality therapy and rehabilitation
before going back home or to community care. Four
beds will be used for step up care – providing a facility
for local GPs to send patients from the community who
need some support to help manage their condition and
prevent them from needing a longer acute hospital stays.
The layout of the facility provides single rooms for all
patients. The unit has dedicated staffing from a nursing,
housekeeping, catering and domestic support. There is
input from consultant physician Dr Barton’s team from
the hospital and it also has full therapy and social
care support.
Now that the new facility is open, Houghton Hall will be
for Warrington residents and the redeveloped Halton
General Hospital step down wards for Halton patients so
that patients are closer to home and their families.
“This new facility is the result of close partnership
working to ensure that our patients get all the
coordinated care they need from the hospitals and
community services,” added Louise Meikle, matron
for step down care who is based at Houghton Hall,
“We have recruited a dedicated team of staff and
it’s a real benefit to the portfolio of services we
provide across Warrington.”
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Cutting waiting times
Meeting the 18 week waiting target
Patients using Warrington and Halton hospitals are
benefiting from some of the lowest waiting times for
surgery in the North West region after a massive drop in
average waits over the last year.
Latest performance figures for the Trust’s hospitals Warrington Hospital and Halton General Hospital - have
shown that waits for all major surgical cases are down to
an average of under five weeks. Just over 12 months ago
they were averaging at a 20 week wait.
Patients needing joint replacements, gall bladder
removal, hernia repairs, prostate operations and
tonsillectomies can now all expect to be seen within a
maximum of six weeks thanks to the Trust improving the
speed of access to surgery across the two hospitals. Extra
operating sessions have been put in place across both
hospitals as well as more efficient ways of working by
staff to maximise theatre time and reduce cancellations.
Patients are also being seen faster after being referred
by their GP to hospital. The maximum outpatient waiting
time at the Trust for a first appointment is now just four
weeks with many patients being offered appointments
within a few days of being referred by their GP.
Diagnostic scan waits have also reduced dramatically.
MRI scan maximum waits at Warrington are just one
week compared to 25 weeks in April 2007 thanks to the
Trust providing extra evening and weekend sessions.
Audiology assessments are provided in a maximum of 3
weeks compared to 33 weeks and new audiology booths
have been installed at both hospitals. Developments like
the new CT scanner at Halton Hospital have also allowed
more patients to be seen in clinics.
The improvements saw the Trust able to meet the
Government’s new 18 week wait target ahead of
schedule. The target means that patients get their first
appointment, any diagnostic scans and their surgery or
treatment within a maximum total of 18 weeks.
“I think one of the key reasons more patients are
choosing to come to us are the short waiting times we
now offer,” said Simon Wright, director of operations at
the Trust, “Outpatient appointments are now provided in
a maximum of four weeks, often much sooner, so people
know they can come to their local hospital and be
assessed quickly and then get any surgery or treatment
they need rapidly as well.”

Providing new facilities
The new intensive care unit
As part of our development of new services, the Trust
has seen a range of new facilities opened over the
last twelve months including renal, cancer and step
down care units. The largest development however is
Warrington Hospital’s intensive care unit which opened
to its first patients in February 2009. £5.36 million was
spent on the unit during the year. The state of the art
facility has 16 critical care beds and increases the Trust’s
capacity for caring for critically ill patients from across
the Warrington and Halton areas.
The new unit has all of the latest equipment to provide
the very best in monitoring and support for patients and
has been designed to help prevent the risk of infection.
It is a major and long-awaited development as intensive
care beds have previously been split across three areas of
the hospital in converted accommodation. The Trust had
been unable to further expand the old facilities to meet
the growing need for this kind of specialist care.
The unit brings the facilities together in one purpose built
area and has initially increased the hospital’s critical care
beds to 16 - with room to expand to over 20 beds over
the coming years.
It is also specifically designed and equipped to help
protect seriously ill patients from healthcare associated
infections which they can be more vulnerable to. It has
two isolation cubicles with a special negative/positive
air pressure system that prevents germs from getting
in or out. All of the monitoring equipment and medical
gases in the unit are suspended from ceiling mounted
‘pendants’ above the beds which makes it much easier
to clean the unit as the floor area is uncluttered.
Because staff are working together in one place on the
new unit the beds can be used more flexibly between the
two types of intensive care - high dependency care and
critical care. The plan is to have eight beds of each type
in the new unit, but this can be changed depending on
patient need at any given time.

4.2 Financial Summary
In this initial period since becoming an NHS Foundation
Trust the organisation continued to build upon its sound
financial position.
The statutory accounts provided as an appendix to
this report show the results over the four months since
authorisation as a Foundation Trust from December 1st
2008, with the balance sheet at March 31st 2009. For
comparison purposes, the financial tables below reflect
the 12 month period ending 31st March 2009, which
includes the eight months from April 2008 to November
2008 (operating as an NHS Trust ) and the four months
from December 2008 to March 2009 (operating as a
Foundation Trust).
It should be noted that as this is the first period as an
NHS Foundation Trust the accounts do not have prior
year figures. The accounts for the earlier period from
April 1st 2008 to November 30th 2008 have also been
audited and approved by the Trust board and will be
presented to a public meeting and available to the
public.
The financial plan for the period from authorisation
(December 1st 2008 to March 31st 2009) was a surplus
of circa £900k based on the Trust’s expected growth
in activity and our savings plans. The actual surplus
achieved of £1.5 million has exceeded this by £612k in
the main due to the extra activity, and therefore revenue,
from primary care trusts (PCTs).
This surplus allows investment in both new services and
capital schemes and has also allowed the £1.5 million
early repayment of loans.
This sound financial performance is reflected in a
predicted score of 4 against the Monitor Risk Assessment
- the highest score that can be achieved by a newly
authorised NHS Foundation Trust.

Ellis Clarke, matron for critical care, said, “We are thrilled
with the new unit. It’s a major development for the
hospital and our patients that we’ve waited a long time
for. The unit is based on the very best practice currently
available and complements the skills of our teams of
doctors, nurses, therapists and other professionals. We
have got the best equipment and infection control
measures built in and the room to expand that means it
is a unit for the future, not just for now.”
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4.2.1 Analysis of Income
The total income of the Trust in the 12 month period
was £178.7 million which is an increase on the previous
year of £9.8 million or 5.8 percent. For the four month

period covered by this report income is £62.6 million with
the majority of income being received from primary care
trusts for health care services provided to patients.
An analysis of income is provided in the table below.

Analysis of Income 2008/09			
		
Pre-Authorisation Post-Authorisation			
		
8 months
4 months
total
2007-08
Source
£000
£000
£000
£000
Primary Care Trusts
100,484
53,025
153,509
145,552
Department of Health
7,507
3,724
11,231
11,170
Education training and research
3,834
2,391
6,225
5,565
Other Clinical income
1,171
719
1,890
1,159
Other non clinical income
3,158
2,752
5,910
5,494

change
£000
7,957
61
660
731
416

		
116,154
62,611
178,765
168,940
						
Income from PCT’s					
Warrington
56,652
30,109
86,761
80,514
Halton & St Helens
33,750
19,041
52,791
51,586
Western Cheshire
3,507
1,914
5,421
4,733
Ashton Leigh and Wigan
2,014
895
2,909
2,803
Central & Eastern Cheshire
1,812
879
2,691
2,601
Others
2,749
187
2,936
3,315

9,825

		

7,957

100,484

4.2.2 Trust revenue Expenditure
The total expenditure incurred in 2008-2009 is £176.2
million (£61.1 million for the four months from
December 2008), with £172 million (£59.6 million for
the four months from December 2008) covering the

53,025

153,509

145,552

6,247
1,205
688
106
90
-379

operating expenses such as pay and consumables and
the remaining £4.2 million (£1.5 million) covering the
capital financing costs such as Public Dividends Capital
(PDC) and interest receivable and payable.
An analysis of operating expenses is provided below.

Analysis operating expenses – 2008/09			
		
Pre- Authorisation Post- Authorisation			
		
8 months
4 months
Total
2007-08 Difference
		
£000
£000
£000
£000
£000
Salaries & wages
78,890
44,339
123,229
111,300
11,929
Clinical supplies & services
16,717
6,531
23,248
21,435
1,813
General supplies
1,915
1,005
2,920
2,754
166
Establishment expenses
1,391
705
2,096
1,822
274
depreciation
4,059
2,019
6,078
6,203
-125
Premises
4,629
3,354
7,983
7,073
910
Clinical negligence
1,324
682
2,006
2,399
-393
Impairment				
2,203
-2,203
Others
3,506
893
4,399
3,076
1,323
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112,431

59,528

171,959

158,265

13,694

4.2.3 Capital Investment
During the year the Trust undertook £10.72 million of capital
investment which has improved services for both patients and
staff. The single largest investment was £5.36 million over the
year for the re-provision and expansion of the Trust’s Critical
Care facilities on the Warrington Hospital site which opened in
February 2009. This investment was financed in part from a £4.5
million loan taken out with the Treasury.
A summary of the capital investment undertaken this year is
provided in the table below. The table represents the capital
programme for the full financial year to 31 March 2009.
However, a number of these schemes were completed during
the period 1 December 2008 to 31 March 2009:
Capital Investment £million
scheme
Critical Care Unit
5.36

Endoscopy Unit

0.40

CT Scanner

0.32

Car Parking

1.43

Pharmacy
Automation

0.51

CANtreat

0.23

Energy Efficiency
Additional
Intermediate Care
Ward

0.69
0.16

Other

1.62

Total

10.72

Investment benefits
Improved facilities for patients
with the provision of new high
dependency and critical care beds
in a bespoke unit at Warrington
Hospital.
Improved facilities for patients with
state of the art in-house endoscopy
sterilisation facilities.
Improved facilities for patients at
Halton General Hospital through
provision of a new 64 slice
computerised tomography scanner.
Improved access through better
parking facilities for patients and
staff with 220 extra spaces at
Warrington Hospital.
Implementation of a robot,
improving efficiency and
stock control in the pharmacy
department.
Provision of a new chemotherapy
unit at Halton General Hospital in
partnership with cancer charity.
Reduced fuel costs for the hospitals.
Provision of step down care facilities
to improve services for patients
getting ready to go home following
acute hospital care.
General improvements to buildings,
public areas and systems.

4.2.4 Prudential Borrowing limit and compliance
with the Prudential Borrowing Code
As an NHS Foundation Trust, Warrington and Halton Hospitals
is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing
limit. This is made up of two elements:i) The maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing.
This is set by reference to the five ratio tests set out in Monitor’s
Prudential Borrowing Code. A copy of this code is available on
the Monitor website www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk
ii) The amount of any working capital facility approved
by Monitor.
The Trust has a prudential borrowing limit of £28.3 million for
the period 1 December 2008 to 31 March 2009 including a
working capital facility of £15 million (£13.3 million net limit.)
The Trust has £5.5 million of outstanding borrowing against this
net limit after having repaid £3.4 million of loans in the period.
A further £2.3 million is due for repayment in 2009-2010.
The NHS Foundation Trust working capital facility of £15 million
has not been utilised in the period.

4.2.5 Performance against Monitor’s Compliance
Framework
As part of the ongoing regulation the Trust carries out a self
assessment against the financial risk rating metrics developed
by Monitor. These metrics which are set out below assess the
financial risks to the Trust based upon its historic financial
performance. There are five measurements which are weighted
to provide a combined overall score of between 1 and 5 with a
rating of 1 being the highest risk and 5 the lowest.
This self assessment is carried out monthly within the Trust and
reported and verified by Monitor on a quarterly basis.
The metrics based upon the annual accounts are detailed in the
table below and based upon this we have an overall rating of 4
which is the highest rating a newly authorised Foundation Trust
can achieve and indicates that there are no regulatory concerns
at this time.
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Risk Rating Metrics as at 31st March 2009
Financial Criteria

Metric

Year to
Date
EBITDA margin % 3

Underlying
performance
Achievement of plan E BITDA % of
plan achieved
Financial efficiency Return on assets
I&E surplus margin
Liquidity
Liquid ratio
( days )
Overall rating

5
4
3
4
4

4.2.6 Related Party Transactions
The Trust has a number of significant contractual
relationships with other NHS organisations that are
essential to its business. A list of the organisations with
whom the Trust holds the largest contracts is included in
the accounts.

4.2.7 Disclosure to auditors
The Board of Directors would confirm that at the date of
the approval of this report that:
So far as the directors are aware there is no relevant
audit information of which the auditors are unaware and
further that each director has taken all the steps that
they ought to have taken as a director in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that
information.

4.2.8 Going Concern
As set out in the notes to the accounts below the
accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
This decision has been made by the directors of the Trust
on the basis that after making enquiries the directors
have a reasonable expectation that the NHS Foundation
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason we
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the accounts.
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The directors confirm that the NHS Foundation Trust
has complied with the cost allocation and charging
requirements set out in HM Treasury and Office of Public
Sector Information guidance.

4.2.9 Appointment of Auditors
The existing auditor (Audit Commission) has been
approved as the auditor of the accounts for 2008-2009
and 2009-2010 at a meeting of the Governors’ Council
on 11th December 2008.

4.2.10 Private Patient Cap
The proportion of private patient income to the total
patient related income is within the limit set out in the
Terms of Authorisation.
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5. Quality Report

Quality and safety goes hand
in hand with dignity and
respect at the hospitals
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Chief Executive’s statement on quality and safety
2008-2009 has seen many improvements in the quality of the services we have delivered for our patients. These
have been driven by the Board and staff have enthusiastically taken on the challenge of making quality and safety
an equal priority with financial viability. This, together with our focus on improving the overall patient experience will
ensure the whole organisation continues to keep quality and safety at the forefront of everything we do.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive

5.1. Current view of the Trusts position on
Quality and Safety
In 2007-2008 the Board made a conscious decision to
put quality and safety at the heart of the Trust Business
Strategy. This was well received by stakeholders, staff
and the general public as evidenced through our
Foundation Trust public Consultation in January to
March 2008.
The Board agreed that the primary strategic objective
should be “Make quality and safety an equal priority with
financial viability”. This was a major turning point for
the Trust having experienced financial turnaround in the
previous eighteen months.
This objective has cascaded throughout the organisation
and continued to be the primary objective in 20082009. The objective was very powerful in terms of
staff engagement and many changes have been
introduced because of the focus the objective has
generated and because of the Board’s commitment to
quality and safety
The Trust had a very successful year in 2008-2009,
meeting all the National Key Performance Indicators.
The Board was particularly proud of the reduction in
hospital acquired infections achieving the target of
12 MRSA bacteraemia and reducing the incidence of
hospital acquired Clostridium difficile.

5.2. Prioritising the Quality
Improvement Initiatives
In June 2008 the Trust held its first Quality and Safety
Workshop. This workshop had forty participants
representing all departments across the hospitals
and focused on themes and learning from patient
and relative complaints. The workshop generated
up to 30 improvement themes across the domains
of effectiveness, safety and compassion (patient
experience). This work informed the Quality and
Safety Strategy that was agreed by the Trust Board in
November 2008.
Following discussions with our stakeholders, staff and
Governors the Quality and Safety priorities for 20092010 are:
1) Further reducing the incidences of
hospital acquired MRSA bacteraemia and
Clostridium difficile

2) Delivering the Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation improvement (CQUIN) themes,
namely:
• ‘Development of the acute component stroke care
pathway improving compliance with key standards
of care.
• Implementation of Copeland’s Risk Adjustment
Barometer (CRAB) across surgical specialities
to proactively monitor trends in morbidity and
mortality
• Implementation of nursing care metrics
3) Driving improvement through patient feedback.
4) Improving performance through the quality and
safety framework improvement themes.
This work will continue in parallel with other quality
and safety initiatives such as Advancing Quality and
will be performance managed by the Quality and
Safety Change Programme Board chaired by the Chief
Executive. The Trust also has a Patient and Workforce
Experience Committee with non executive director and
Foundation Trust Governor membership.
Further detail on each priority area is included below.

5.2.1 PRIORITY 1 - Further reduce the
incidence of MRSA bacteraemia and
Clostridium difficile.
Rationale
The NHS Operating Framework for 2008/2009 and
2009/2010 identifies the reduction in health acquired
infections to be a key national priority. It is clear that
patients also rate this as a significant factor in both
choice of hospitals and patient experience.
The Trust has made major improvements in reducing
the incidence of hospital acquired infections, and has
collaborated with GPs and Primary Care to assist in
reducing community acquired infections.
Current Performance
The tables below show figures over the last three years
on performance of both Clostridium difficile and MRSA
bacteraemia. CAI indicates community acquired
infection, HAI hospital acquired infection.
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Year
2006-2007*
2007-2008
2008-2009

CAI
67
142
92

HAI
261
373
112

Total
328
515
204

* this is locally collected data and may not be
comparable to data from 2007 onwards.
MRSA – numbers of positive blood cultures
06/07
07/08
08/09

CAI
10
8
3

HAI
23
10
9

Total
33
18
12

Standards to be achieved
The Trust will have no more than eight hospital acquired
MRSA bacteraemia and 85 Clostridium difficile cases in
2009-2010. These are internal stretch targets and are
lower than those in our contract with Primary Care Trusts.
Initiatives in 2008-2009
MRSA
• Elective screening introduced
• MRSA Reduction Plan monitored by the Trust Board
• Critical Care action plans to reduce IV/Central line
infections
• Systematic audit of High Impact Interventions across
the Trust
Clostridium difficile
• Cohort ward implementation
• Antibiotic formulary review and compliance audits
• Multi-professional review of patients
New initiatives in 2009-2010
• Implement HCAI technologies from the national
programme
• Major focus on urinary catheterisation
• Develop further the Critical Care action plans
• Increased audit and competency assessment

5.2.2 PRIORITY 2 - Delivering the
Quality and Innovation Improvement
(CQUIN) themes
There are three clear themes in this priority:
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CQUIN theme one - Development of the acute
component stroke care pathway improving
compliance with key standards of care.
Rationale
The Sentinel audit recommended the provision of the
full bundle of care covering all nine indicators to stroke
patients. The objective is to improve the quality of
service provided to Warrington and Halton Hospitals
patients.
Current Performance
Table – Percentage compliance against key
indicators for applicable sample (Sentinel Audit)
% Compliance
Key Indicators

All
WHHFT
Sites

1. Patients treated for
90% of stay in a Stroke
Unit.

61

81

2. Screening for
swallowing
disorders within 24 hours
of admission.

72

65

3. Brain scan within 24
hours
of stroke.

59

69

70

93

5. Physiotherapy
assessment
within first 72 hours
of admission.

83

88

6. Assessment by an
Occupational Therapist
within
4 working days of
admission.

68

60

4. Commenced aspirin
by
48 hours of admission.

Acute Phase

Clostridium difficile – numbers of all cases including
nursing homes, GP etc

Standard to be achieved
The actual performance targets will be agreed in the first
stage of the project against six of the nine indicators.
Clinical outcomes will focus on qualitative measures of
safety, effectiveness and patient experience.

Care Pathway

Within 24 hours

Within 72 hours (3 days)
Within 96 hours (4 days)

P atients treated for 90% of
stay in a Stroke Unit
Screening for swallowing disorders
within 24 hours of admission.
Brain scan within 24 hours of stroke.
Commenced aspirin within
48 hours of admission
Physiotherapy assessment within
first 72 hours of admission
Assessment by an Occupational
Therapist within 4 working
days of admission

Initiatives in 2008-2009
• Investment in Consultant staff
• Length of stay reduced
• Matron for Elderly Care appointed
• Stroke thrombolysis project commenced.
New Initiatives for 2009-2010
A project group has been established to further
develop the care pathway and design a 24/7
thrombolysis service.

CQUIN theme two - Implementation of
Copeland’s Risk Adjustment Barometer
(CRAB) across surgical specialities to
proactively monitor trends in morbidity
and mortality
Rationale
The Trust’s hospital standardised mortality ratio runs
between 87 – 95 and is below the national average of
100. However currently data capture is retrospective
and the CRAB system allows real time capture with the
potential to flag trends in morbidity and mortality which
in turn enables corrective action to be taken at an earlier
stage. The work will initially focus on non day case
surgical procedures.
Current Status
Dr Foster data is reviewed quarterly through the Clinical
Benchmarking Group and action taken if indicated.

Safety
✓

Effectiveness
✓

Experience
✓

✓
✓

✓
✓
✓

✓

✓

✓

Initiatives in 2008-2009
The CRAB data acquisition was checked to demonstrate
accuracy and the use of the system was piloted at
speciality level.
New Initiatives for 2009-2010
• Introduction of the CRAB system across all surgical
specialties at Consultant data level
• Monthly review through the Clinical
Benchmarking Group
• Clinical engagement to improve clinical supervision.

CQUIN theme three - Implementation of
the Nursing Care Metrics
Rationale
The objective is to build a series of nursing metrics,
which have a strong outcome focus. The early stages
of the project will focus on developing a baseline in
each area which can then be used to measure ongoing
improvement. The scope of the project is limited to
hospital inpatients.
Current Status
This work has been piloted across a range of Trusts in the
North West region.
Standard to be achieved
Once the baseline for each metric has been established a
reduction rate will be agreed with the Commissioners.

Standard to be achieved
The real time system will be introduced at consultant
level and reviewed by the Clinical Benchmarking group
and Divisional Governance Groups on a monthly basis.
In terms of morbidity, post operative complications such
as chest infection, urinary tract and wound infection will
be reduced.
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Outcome
Infections Prevention – reduce the number of hospital acquired
MRSA bacteraemia to 8 (contract target of 12)
Infection Prevention – reduce the number of hospital acquired
Clostridium difficile cases to 85 cases (contract target 204)
Pressure Ulcer Care – reduction the number of hospital
acquired pressure ulcers
Falls – reduction in the number of falls and a reduction in
severity of injuries
Medication Administration – reduction in errors made by nurses
Initiatives in 2008-2009
These themes were incorporated into the Trust’s
Quality and Safety Framework and internal standards
developed. Progress has been made across each of
these improvement themes.
New Initiatives for 2009-2010
The nursing metrics will be championed and delivered by
the Trust’s Nursing and Midwifery Advisory Committee.

5.2.3 PRIORITY 3 - Driving improvement
through patient feedback
Rationale
Improving the patient experience is both a national and
local priority as outlined in The Operating Framework
2009 and the Trust’s strategic objectives. Real
improvements in the patient experience can only be
made if the Trust understands the views of patients
and relatives. This necessitates a comprehensive
and systematic collation of service user views. The
Trust participates in the National Patient Survey, and
also undertakes a range of small scale audits but
it is recognised that the Trust requires more timely
information in order to be responsive to patients’ needs.
Current status
The 2008 National In-Patient Survey indicates
improvements made in several areas compared with
2007-2008. Action plans are in place to address areas
where the Trust has performed less well.
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Safety
✓

Effectiveness
✓

Experience
✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Feedback from 2008/09 Patient
Survey
Patient admission
Hospital and ward environment
Rating for Doctors
Rating for Nurses
Care and treatment
Operations and procedures
Leaving hospitals
Patient overview of stay

Comparison with
2007
Improved
Improved
Improved
Improved
No change
Improved
Improved
Improved

Standard to be achieved
The Trust will have systems in place to ensure regular and
timely information from patients that can be reported to
the Board and Governors’ Council to a) give assurance
on the standard of care patients are experiencing and b)
inform the quality change programme.
Initiatives in 2008-2009
• Patient Involvement Groups given increased focus
• Suggestion scheme in Maternity successfully piloted
with feedback board
• Catering comment cards/audits demonstrated
increased satisfaction with meals.
New Initiatives for 2009-2010
• Increased involvement of Governors and Members
• Patient Feedback strategy written
• Frequent feedback system to track patient experience
being purchased
• Patient Experience Group reformed
• Focused action plans to drive improvement in areas
identified as weak in the National Patient Surveys.

5.2.4 PRIORITY 4 - Further implementing
the quality and safety framework
improvement themes
Rationale
The Trust’s Quality and Safety Framework is an
ambitious three year programme which focuses on areas
of improvement for both patients and staff.
Current Status
Clinical leads have developed the thirty improvement
themes incorporating evidence based standards, metrics
and auditing mechanisms which will allow accurate
measurement of improvement.
Standard to be achieved
An example of this would be to ensure all appropriate
patients are placed on the Liverpool Care Pathway for
the Dying Patient which is recognised as a model of best
practice in ensuring that all dying patients and their
relatives and carers receive the highest standard of care
in the last days or hours of their life.
Initiatives in 2008-2009
• The quality and safety programmes continued
throughout the financial year with internal
improvement standards and actions plans being
developed for each theme.
• Scorecard development to give assurance on progress
New Initiatives for 2009-2010
A Quality and Safety Programme Board will be
established to performance manage the
improvement themes.

5.3 Response to Regulators
The Trust declared ‘not met’ for Standard C1b Safety
Alerts ‘Healthcare organisations protect patients through
systems that ensure that patient safety notices, alerts
and other communications concerning patient safety
which require action are acted upon within required
time scales’
A review of this failure demonstrated that a small
number of alerts had not been completed within the
timescale but that there was a very low probability
of risk to patients. This has been addressed, systems
strengthened and the Trust will be compliant with this
standard in 2009-2010.

The Healthcare Commission Hygiene Code spot
inspection indicated the Trust failed on one sub duty
because Estates policies cross referencing the links
with the Control of Infection team were not in place.
Operational systems were in place but the policies did
not underpin these. This has now been addressed.
The Trust was also registered unconditionally in relation
to Health Care Acquired Infection by the Care Quality
Commission for 2009-2010.
Based on our internal assessment Monitor rated
Governance as amber for Quarter 3 and green for
Quarter 4 of 2008-2009.

5.4 Response to LINks and Stakeholders
The Trust has good engagement with local LINks which
have been set up over the past year. LINks members
participate in several Trust wide patient groups; hold
a stakeholder Governor position on the Governors’
Council and make a vital contribution to ongoing PEAT
assessments. One area of concern raised with them
through the Warrington Older People’s Engagement
Group (OPEG) was hospital discharge. Consequently
a programme of work to improve discharge was
undertaken and initial feedback from OPEG is
very positive.
Warrington Borough Council and Halton Borough
Council have Overview and Scrutiny Committees which
the Trust attends regularly. One Overview and Scrutiny
Committee works through Emissary members where
three Councillors take a specific interest in the Trust and
meet regularly with senior managers to give feedback
and learn about the Trust. This has been an excellent
way of improving relationships. Infection Control and
car parking have been two areas of interest. The Trust
has invested significantly this year to improve car parking
with the installation of a two deck car park, demolition of
buildings and overall improvement in access for patients
and staff. These actions have increased car parking
capacity by over 200 spaces.
The Governors’ Council and the wider membership of the
Trust are keen to develop the Trust and are establishing
mechanisms to do this, both by Sub-Committee work
and by Governors becoming members of a range of
Trust groups and committees. Their wealth of expertise
is already strongly influencing and developing the
improvement work in the hospitals.

25

Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report 2008/09

5.5 Quality Overview
The Trust has many metrics in relation to quality and
safety, a sample of which are listed below.

5.5.1 Performance of the Trust against
selected metrics
Patient Safety
Patients with MRSA
bacteraemia per 10,000
bed days
Patients with Clostridium
dificile per 10,000 bed
days (hospital acquired
infections only
Hospital standard mortality
rate (SMR)*
Hospital falls per 1,000
patient admission

2007/08
0.92

2008/09
0.58

19.65

5.36

103.7

89.4

19.64

17.55

2007/08
98%

2008/09
98%

49%

62%

n/a

75%

Acute MI Pathway
Heart Failure Pathway
Hip and Knees Pathway
Pneumonia Pathway
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Healthcare Associated Infection targets:

MRSA bacteraemia
Clostridium difficile
• Hospital Acquired
• Total (including
community acquired)

Target
Number
12

Actual
Number
12

312
384

112
177

Achieve the 18 week milestone target of:
• 85% for admitted patients
✓ Achieved
• 90 % for non admitted patients
✓ Achieved
Urgent cancer referrals receiving
✓ Achieved
treatment within 62 days
Cancer patients receiving treatment
✓ Achieved
within 31 days of diagnosis.
Urgent cancer referral seen within 2
✓ Achieved
weeks
68% of heart attack patients receive ✓ Achieved
thrombolysis within 60 minutes of call.
98% of A&E Patients discharged/
✓ Achieved
admitted within 4 hours
Based on the information the Trust has provided, our
governance rating given by Monitor was green for
Quarter 4 of 2008-2009.

(1) NHS Choices website, patient feedback as at 31st
March 2009
Clinical Effectiveness
- Advancing Quality
Pathways

The Trust has successfully delivered all of the infection
and activity performance targets set by the Department
of Health in 2008-2009.

Activity targets

*Based on average of quarterly SMR figures over
financial year.
Patient Experience
Percentage of patients
who spent less than
4 hours in A&E
Percentage of patients
in the National
Inpatient
Survey who thought the
wards were very clean
Percentage of Patients
who would recommend
the hospital to
relatives / friends (1)

5.5.2 National Targets and Regulatory
requirements

2007/08
Trust
Performance
%
93.98
70.31
88.71
82.81

2008/09
Average of
all Trusts %
87.5
59.17
84.27
77.38

6. Foundation Trust Membership
6.1 Membership breakdown

6.3 Engaging the membership

Total numbers of members at year end
(31 March 2009)
Public constituency
6610
Staff constituency
4451
Total members
11,061

Since authorisation, work has begun to engage
the members and develop work to ensure that the
membership can communicate with the Governors
elected to represent them.

6.2 Recruitment and Engagement—the
past 12 Months
Membership is open to anyone over the age of 12 living
in our catchment areas. An out of areas constituency
group is also in place for members who live outside our
direct catchment area who join.
During the period January 2008 to December 2008, the
Trust was successful in creating a public membership
of 6,581 pre-authorisation which has grown slightly
post authorisation to 6,610. This figure also takes into
account an exercise to ensure our membership data is up
to date and ensure the removal of members who have
moved away, deceased or have requested to end their
membership.
Our membership figures were mainly achieved through
the consultation events and direct recruitment in public
areas over the two hospital sites
In addition, recruitment packs were sent out to all GP
practices and libraries in the local geographical area.
Recruitment campaigns were run in conjunction with
local large employers such as the local authorities and a
media campaign was run to promote membership and
encourage recruitment.

The Governors Council agreed a structure which would
reflect the needs of the Council and the work to be
done by the Council. It was agreed in February 2009 to
develop a Communications Committee to lead the work
in membership recruitment and engagement.
Amongst the early work in this area is:
• Publication of a quarterly membership newsletter ‘Your
Hospitals’ which is now sent to all members and also
to local GP surgeries and libraries and placed in waiting
areas of the hospitals. This aims to keep members up
to date with developments across the Trust
• Member specific events which included an open day
tour of the Trust laboratories that attracted in excess
of 100 members and a health fair at the Trust annual
general meeting in September pre-authorisation
• Development of surveying and opinion seeking
tools that will help provide the Governors with views,
priorities and opinions of their constituent members
• Plans for direct contact between the Governors and
their members that will allow constituency events to be
staged in 2009-2010.

Staff members are automatically made members of the
Trust and cease to be members if they leave the Trust.
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7. The Governors’ Council
The Governors’ Council at the Trust helps shape and
endorse the future strategy of the organisation, and provide
a critical link between the hospital and the local people it
serves within Warrington, Halton and other local areas.
Governors give up their time voluntarily and make a
major contribution to the way the hospital relates to
its patients and the wider community. The Governors
hold the hospital to account to the local population and,
crucially, ensure that local people input into decisions
and plans for the hospitals.
The Governors’ Council will meet at least four times a
year (including the annual members’ meeting and AGM).
Between December 1st 2008 and March 31st 2009 the
Governors’ Council met twice - on 11th December 2008
and 15th January 2009.

7.1 Structure and members of our
Governors Council
Our Governors Council is made up of the following
representatives:
• 16 Public Governors - elected by the Public Members
and representing the local community
• 5 Staff Governors - elected by the hospital Staff
Members
• 9 Partner Governors - nominated by organisations we
work closely with in Warrington and Halton.
Our first Governors have been elected following
the nominations and elections which took place
amongst our Staff Members and Public Members in
the Summer of 2008. The elections were overseen by
the Electoral Reform Society (Services) and the results
were announced on September 23rd 2008. Further
biographical details of the public governors, including
the register of Governors interest are available on our
website www.warringtonandhaltonhospitals.nhs.uk
Public Governors
Public Governors are elected by the Public Members
to represent them. In order to make sure the Public
Governors represent the areas we serve we have based
the split of governors proportionately by the number of
residents from each area.
The trust has further broken down Warrington and
Halton areas based on the electoral wards that people
live in. This means that in elections for Public Governors
members vote for a Governor to represent the area you
are resident in. We have grouped together the electoral
wards in Warrington, Widnes and Runcorn and outside
the area.
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Halton area Public Governors
• Daresbury, Windmill Hill, Norton North, Castlefields –
David Warrener
• Beechwood, Mersey, Heath, Grange – Doreen Shotton
• Norton South, Halton Brook, Halton Lea – Bob Bryant
• Appleton, Farnworth, Hough Green, Halton View,
Birchfield – Roy Radley (has since stood down
from post)
• Broadheath, Ditton, Hale, Kingsway, Riverside –
George Skarratts
Warrington area Public Governors
• Lymm, Grappenhall and Thelwall – Peter Cotton
• Appleton, Stockton Heath, Hatton, Stretton and
Walton – David Knowles
• Culcheth, Glazebury and Croft, Poulton North – Taha
Tayih Al-Naimi
• Penketh and Cuerdley, Great Sankey North, Great
Sankey South – Lydia Carson
• Latchford East, Latchford West, Poulton South –
Pamela Heesom
• Bewsey and Whitecross, Fairfield and Howley – Jean
Ann Pownall
• Poplars and Hulme, Orford – Rebecca Kelly
• Birchwood, Rixton and Woolston – David King
• Burtonwood and Winwick, Whittle House, Westbrook
– Chris Kenyon
Out of area public governors
• North Mersey – Marjorie Conroy
• South Mersey – Janet Walker
Staff Governors
Staff Governors represent staff on the Governors Council
and bring their knowledge and skills from working in the
organisation. There are five Staff Governors representing
the main staff groups at the hospitals. Staff at the
hospitals automatically become Staff Members of the
Foundation Trust - although they can choose to opt out
if they wish to.
• Medical – Janice Fazackerley
• Nursing and Midwifery – Allan Ralston
• Support – Lorna Carson
• Clinical Scientist or Allied Health Professionals –
Jeff Green
• Estates, admin and managerial - Andrée Jane Birch

Partner Governors
Our Partner Governors are nominated by key local
organisations that we work with. They bring their
knowledge and experience to the Governors Council and
help us to work in partnership with the community.
• Warrington Borough Council - Councillor Celia Jordon
• Halton Borough Council - Councillor Stefan Nelson
• Warrington Primary Care Trust - Liz Craig (executive
nurse) – replaced by Chrissie Cooke (director of patient
safety, quality and governance January 2009)
• Halton & St Helens Primary Care Trust - Fiona
Johnstone (director of health strategy)
• Warrington PBC (practice based commissioning
consortium) - Dr Brendon O’Colemain
• Halton PBC/Widnes PBC - Dr Cliff Richards (chair of
Runcorn PBC Consortium)
• Commercial sector - Colin Daniels (Chamber of
Commerce & Industry)
• Mental Health - Barrie Moore (Mental Health Forum)
• LINKS representative - Ann Turner (Warrington LINks)*

Members of Governors’ Council can be
contacted via:
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust
Membership Office
Warrington Hospital
Lovely Lane
Warrington WA5 1QG
Telephone - 01925 664222
E-mail - foundation@whh.nhs.uk

*This post will rotate on an annual basis between
Warrington LINks and Halton LINks.
Attendance at Governors' Council meetings
All Governors have attended the full Governor's Council
meeting with the exception of:
At the Governors' Council meeting on December 11th
2008, apologies were received from Public Governors
David Warrener and Bob Bryant, Staff Governors Lorna
Carson and Jane Birch and Partner Governors Celia
Jordan, Liz Craig, Fiona Johnstone and Dr Cliff Richards.
At the Governors' Council meeting on January 15th
2009, apologies were received from Public Governor
Taha Tayih Al-Naimi and Partner Governors Stefan
Nelson, Fiona Johnstone and Dr Brendan O'Colemain.
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8. The Board of Directors
Executive Directors
Catherine Beardshaw - Chief Executive
Catherine Beardshaw was appointed as chief executive
in July 2006.
Catherine started her NHS career as a radiographer
in Sheffield in the 1970s and held a range of clinical
posts, moving to her first superintendent radiographer
post in 1984 at the Royal Hallamshire Hospital. In 1992
Catherine moved to Leeds General Infirmary as radiology
services manager and then made a career change into
general management with a range of management
posts across the now Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS
Trust. This culminated in a director of operations post
at the hospitals which she held from 2002 to her
appointment at North Cheshire Hospitals. During this
time, Catherine performance managed a wide range
of services with an expenditure budget of some £190
million and over 5,000 staff.
Catherine has an MBA from Durham University which
she completed in 1997. She is married with two grown
up step children and enjoys gardening, reading
and walking.
Kathryn Holbourn - Director of Nursing
and Governance
Kath Holbourn was appointed as director of nursing to
the Trust in May 2002.
Kath trained as a nurse at Manchester Royal Infirmary
and qualified in 1977. She held several clinical roles there
with her main specialty interests being A&E and general
intensive care. Having completed an MSc in clinical
nursing, she then worked at Bolton Health Authority
advising on clinical standards and service developments
across both primary and secondary care. She then
returned to secondary care in St Helens & Knowsley,
initially responsible for clinical developments for a year
before becoming their director of nursing in 1988.
Following a ten year career there with a varying portfolio
including mental health, Kath moved to Mid Cheshire
Hospitals as nurse director.
Kath is married with a daughter, who is training to be
a PE teacher. Kath has a range of interests including
voluntary work; officiating at swimming competitions;
trying new sports and family life.
Chris Knights - Director of Business Development
Chris Knights was appointed as director of business
development in July 2007. The role includes
responsibility for information management and
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technology, service modernisation, commissioning,
business planning and project director of the Trust’s
foundation Trust application.
Chris started his NHS career as a graduate management
trainee at Halton General Hospital in 1993. He took
up his first substantive role in 1995 at the Royal
Liverpool Hospital as a business manager in the urology
directorate. His career then developed through a range
of general management posts at Stockport Acute
Services NHS Trust and University Hospitals Aintree
NHS Trust before his first board role at St Helens and
Knowsley Hospitals NHS Trust in 2003.
Chris has an MBA from the Open University which he
completed in 2000. His leisure interests include running
and golf.
Gordon Ramsden - Medical Director
Gordon Ramsden became medical director of the Trust
in August 2007 and is also a consultant in obstetrics and
gynaecology at the hospitals.
Gordon qualified from Manchester Medical School
in1979 and worked as registrar at Warrington in 1986.
In 1990 became lecturer at the University of Liverpool
in obstetrics and gynaecology. He became a consultant
at Warrington Hospital in 1993. Gordon was regional
programme director for obstetrics and gynaecology
services for five years before taking on the clinical
directorship in women’s health in 2004. In 2006 Gordon
became director of medical education and helped to
reorganise the Trust’s education centres.
Gordon is married to Liz, a local GP, and has two
daughters who are both at University. He enjoys golf and
is a very keen skier and snowboarder.
Sheila Samuels - Director of HR and
Organisational Development
Sheila Samuels was appointed as director of human
resources at the Trust in June 2004.
Sheila has over 30 years of working in the public sector,
six years of which have been as a board level director
in the NHS. Sheila started her public sector career in
local government in 1976 working in the areas of policy
development and in a support and advisory capacity to
council members and leadership. In 1990 she moved
into Human Resource Management. Her first position
with NHS was as director of human resources in Mersey
Regional Ambulance Service before taking up her role
here at North Cheshire Hospitals.

Sheila is a corporate member of the Chartered Institute
of Personnel and Development and holds the Diploma
in Public Administration from Liverpool University. She is
married with a teenage son and enjoys theatre, eating
out, holidaying and supporting her local church young
people’s group as a leader.
Jonathan Stephens – Director of Finance
Jonathan Stephens joined the Trust as director of finance
in March 2008 and is deputy chief executive of the Trust.
Jonathan was previously director of finance at
Tameside Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. He has over
18 years experience in NHS finance with experience of
community and primary care health provision, specialist
teaching hospital services and the Strategic Health
Authority. At Tameside Hospital he led the Trust through
to foundation Trust status and delivered Department
of Health and Treasury approval, and the subsequent
commercial contract sign off, of the hospital’s major PFI
capital development.
Jonathan is married with two daughters and enjoys
music, football, hiking and herpetology.
Simon Wright - Director of Operations
Simon Wright was appointed as director of operations in
June 2007.
Simon started his management career working for
nine years in the independent sector within health
care joining the NHS in November 1997 at the Walton
Centre for Neurology and Neurosurgery NHS Trust
where he started by supporting the hospital move to
a new facility on the Fazakerly site. This role expanded
to include management of theatres and ITU before
he joined Salford Royal Hospitals Trust in May 2001.
He oversaw the integration of Greater Manchester
Neurosciences onto the site followed by extending the
surgical specialties brief as general manager. The general
manager post was changed to associate director with an
operating budget of £70m and 1,800 staff. During the
next 2 years Salford secured Foundation Trust status and
NHS LA III.
Simon has a MSc from Lancaster University which he
completed in 2003. He is married with a son and enjoys
music, sport and reading.

Non-executive directors
Allan Massey – Chairman
Allan Massey was appointed chairman of North Cheshire
Hospitals in December 2004.

Allan started his career in 1965 in a civil engineering
company in Warrington before working in a variety
of private sector accountancy roles, culminating in
works accounting manager for a major manufacturing
company. In 1982 Allan moved to the public sector and
worked in local government with Warrington Borough
Council as treasury manager - managing a portfolio
of over £500 million. He became a local councilor in
1997 at Halton Borough Council with executive board
portfolios for social care and health, education and
lifelong learning and business efficiency.
Allan was appointed deputy chair of Halton NHS
Primary Care Trust in 2002 before joining North Cheshire
Hospitals as chairman. Allan lives in Runcorn and is
married to a health service professional. He has one
daughter who is a science teacher.
Maureen Banner – Vice Chairman
Maureen Banner joined the Trust in September 2000 just
after the merger that created the former North Cheshire
Hospitals NHS Trust.
As a mature student, Maureen qualified as a teacher in
1974 and taught in primary schools in Warrington and
Widnes before taking early retirement in 1994. She was
elected to Warrington Borough Council in 1999 and
represents the ward of Rixton and Woolston. She has
been member of the cabinets on Community, Education
and Health & Wellbeing as well as being closely involved
in the care of children as member of the Children’s
Services Scrutiny Board and the Looked After Children,
Fostering and Adoption Panel.
Maureen also chairs her parish council, the Strategic
Sure Start Partnership and the Sandy Lane Children’s
Centre. She is married with a daughter and has two
grandchildren and enjoys reading, walking, holidays and
supporting her granddaughter at athletic meetings.
Rory Adam
Rory Adam joined the Trust as a non executive director in
December 2007.
Rory is a qualified accountant and chartered director.
He has many years experience in industry as a finance
director, including 5 years until 2001 as finance director of
a local healthcare company Fresenius Kabi. He has wide
experience of commercial and organisational aspects of
organisations and is chair of the Trust’s audit committee.
Rory has lived in Warrington since 1996, and is married
with two teenage daughters.
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Clare Briegal
Clare Briegal joined the Trust as a non-executive director
in November 2008.
Clare is a general manager and marketing consultant.
She began her career as a research scientist for a US
medical products firm and then transferred to a sales
& marketing role. Clare returned to the UK and held a
number of senior sales & marketing positions with ICI
Acrylics and then Twyford Bathrooms where she was
appointed Marketing Director in 1999. She became
Managing Director of Trendsetter Home Furnishings in
2002 and set up her own on-line business in 2005.
Clare has an MBA from Manchester Business School,
an MA in Natural Sciences from the University of
Cambridge and an MA in Biochemistry from Bryn Mawr
College, USA. She has lived in Warrington since 1995
with her husband and three children. When not working
you’ll find her on the river; she has remained an active
oarswoman since rowing for Cambridge in 1984 and is
Captain of Northwich Rowing Club.
Allan Mackie
Allan Mackie joined the Trust as a non executive director
in March 2005.
Entering production management in the brewing
industry in 1970, he held senior leadership positions
in operations management with major national and
regional companies with responsibility for the delivery
of continuous improvement of business performance.
In 1998 he became operations director of a company
active in the fields of business change, transformation
and technical management in the food and agriculture
sectors in Russia and Eastern Europe and was responsible
for the execution of strategic business plans and the
delivery of modern business practices.
Allan has held previous non executive positions with
a professional member’s body and a supply chain
company. In a voluntary role he is a custody visitor for
the Cheshire Police Authority. He is married and has lived
in Warrington since 1991.
Carol Withenshaw
Carol Withenshaw was appointed as non executive
director with the Trust in 2006.
Carol is a health care management consultant and acts
as chair of the National Clinical Homecare Association
(NCHA) and is a member of National Homecare
Medicines Committee (NHMC). Carol started her career
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at Greenall Whitley Brewery PLC from 1969, becoming
group training manager in 1984. In 1988 she moved to
the Fresenius Healthcare Group and worked in a range of
senior management roles before becoming operations
director. Carol then became managing director of
Fresenius’ Calea UK subsidiary and was responsible
for developing and launching the new business which
provides specialist support services to the NHS for
patients and health care professionals in community and
hospital settings.
Carol lives in Warrington and in her spare time enjoys
walking, cycling and reading.

8.1 Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Rory Adam, nonexecutive director. Other members are Maureen Banner,
Allan Mackie, Carol Withenshaw and Clare Briegal. The
committee has met six times within the full 12 months
to March 31st 2009 and once in the period of this report
(on 10th February 2009).
Members attending the 10th February 2009
meeting were:
• Rory Adam
• Allan Mackie
• Carol Withenshaw
• Clare Briegal.
The role of the audit Committee which is accountable
to the Board is set out in the terms of reference with the
following key areas:
• Maintenance of an effective system of integrated
governance, risk management and internal control
across the organisation’s activities that supports the
achievement of the organisational objectives
• Ensure there is an effective internal audit function that
provides appropriate independent assurance
• Review the work and findings of external audit and the
implications and management responses to their work
• Ensure the organisation has robust systems of financial
control and reporting.
Approved by Rory Adam, Chairman of the
Audit Committee.

9. Public Interest Disclosures
Declaration of Executive and Non-Executive Directors’ Private Interests
1st December 2008 – 31st March 2009
NAME

NATURE OF INTEREST

Allan Massey
Chairman

Member of the Labour
Party Member of the
Co-operative Group
No Interests Declared

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
Kathryn Holbourn
Director of Nursing &
Governance
Jonathan Stephens
Director of Finance
Sheila Samuels
Director of Human
Resources & Organisational
Development
Simon Wright
Director of Operations
Christopher Knights
Director of Business
Development
Gordon Ramsden
Medical Director
Maureen Banner
Non-Executive Director

REASON FOR DECLARATION DATE DECLARATION
EFFECTIVE
Potential Conflict of Interest
31 March 2009
Potential Conflict of Interest
31 March 2009
31 March 2009

No Interests Declared

31 March 2009

No Interests Declared

31 March 2009

No Interests Declared

31 March 2009

No Interests Declared

31 March 2009

No Interests Declared

31 March 2009

BUPA Private Practice

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Warrington Schools Forum
Member of the Labour
Party
Member of Co-operative
Party
Member of the Fostering
Panel
Independent Member
of Warrington Borough
Council Birth to 5 Focus on
the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Deputy Chair of the
Children’s Trust
Director of Warrington Bus
Company
Member of Standards
Committee, Warrington
Borough Council as a
Parish Councillor

No conflict of interest
Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009
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Carol Withenshaw
Non-Executive Director

Allan Mackie
Non-Executive Director

Rory Adam
Non-Executive Director

Susan Clare Briegal
Non Executive Director

34

Daughter employed by
Trust
Chair National Clinical
Homecare Association
Member National
Homecare Medicines
Committee (NHS)
Member of Patient
Forum
Independent
Member of Standards
Committee, Warrington
Borough Council
Member of the
Cheshire & Mersey
Sub-Committee of the
Advisory Committee
on Clinical Excellence
Awards
Director, United Utilities
Trust Fund
Wife is a Consultant
with Wrightington,
Wigan & Leigh NHS
Trust
Director of Net Weaver
Ltd
(IT Company)
Finance Director for
Protomed Ltd
Director of I Love My
Ltd (Private Company &
Consultancy – Mid Essex
NHS PCT was a client in
2007)
Husband Mark Briegal
Director I Love My Ltd
Partner of Ralli Solicitors
Sister Mary Ann
Munford Director of
Munford Clarke Ltd
(private company and
consultancy to NHS)

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

No conflict of interest

31 March 2009

No conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009

Potential conflict of interest
Potential conflict of interest

31 March 2009
31 March 2009

10. Remuneration report
The Board Remuneration Committee
The Board Remuneration Committee meets annually, or
as required to make decisions regarding remuneration
and conditions of service for executive directors including
our Chief Executive. During the period from December
1st the Committee met twice – on 25th February 2009
and 25th March 2009.
Agreements for these staff reflect the provisions of
national arrangements. Pay arrangements are also
determined for senior managers and staff not covered by
national pay review bodies.
Remuneration and conditions of service include
provisions for other benefits as well as arrangements
for termination of employment. It considers all in gratia
payments and redundancy payments over £50k. There
are no special termination arrangements for senior
managers, and no such awards have been made to past
senior managers this year.
The Trust does not apply performance conditions
linked to remuneration. Executive directors participate
in annual performance development reviews and
appraisals. Individual objectives are linked to the
corporate objectives.
The Committee comprises the Trust’s:
• Chairman
• Chief executive (except for matters concerning their
employment and conditions)
• All non-executive directors.

All members were present at the meeting on 25th
February 2009. All members with the exception of
Maureen Banner (Non Executive Director) and Catherine
Beardshaw (Chief Executive) were present on 25th
March 2009.
The Governors’ Council Nomination and
Remuneration Committee
The Governors’ Council Nomination and Remuneration
Committee meets annually or as required to recommend
to the Governors’ Council the nomination of appropriate
candidates to the posts of Non-Executive Directors,
including the Chair and Deputy Chair.
The committee also has responsibility for making
recommendations to the Governor’s Council as to the
remuneration and allowances, and other terms and
conditions, of office of Non Executive Directors.
The committee comprises the Trust’s:
- Chair (or Deputy Chair when the appointment of the
Chair or his or her remuneration and allowances/other
terms and conditions of office are being discussed)
- One Partner Governor (Colin Daniels)
- One Staff Governor (Janice Fazackerley)
- Two Public Governors (Doreen Shotton and
David Knowles).
During the period from December 1st, the committee
met once on January 15th 2009. All members attended.

10.1 Contractual arrangements for non-executive directors
Name
Allan Massey
Maureen Banner
Carol Withenshaw
Allan Mackie
Rory Adam
Clare Briegal

Contract Commencement date
01/12/2004
01/09/2000
01/07/2006
01/03/2005
01/12/2007
01/11/2008

Our executive directors are not employed under
fixed term contractual arrangements and are required
to give three months notice under the terms of
their employment.
Both employee and employer contribute to the NHS
pension scheme and Note 1.12 of the annual accounts
provides explanation of how pension liabilities are
treated in the accounts.

Contract expiry date
30/11/2012
1/12/2009
30/06/2010
28/02/2013
30/11/2011
30/11/2012

Notice period
Three months
Three months
Three months
Three months
Three months
Three months

Only the information included in the salaries and
allowances and pension entitlements tables (follow
pages) has been subject to external audit. The
information shown in the tables is in respect of the
period 1 December 2008 to 31 March 2009 and includes
all senior managers and therefore covers the chair and
the executive and non executive directors.
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10.2 Salaries and allowances
Name and title

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
Gordon Ramsden
Medical Director
Sheila Samuels
Director of Human Resources
Jonathan Stephens
Director of Finance
Kath Holbourn
Director of Nursing & Service
Development
Simon Wright
Director of Operations
Chris Knights
Director of Business Planning
Allan Massey
Chairman
Allan Mackie
Non Executive Director
Maureen Banner
Non Executive Director
Rory Adam
Non Executive Director
Carol Withenshaw
Non Executive Director
Clare Briegal
Non Executive Director
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Salary (bands of
£5,000)
£000
40-45
25-30
25-30
30-35
30-35

25-30
25-30
10-15
0-5
0-5
0-5
0-5
0-5

4 months - 31 March 2009
Other Remuneration Benefits in kind
(bands of £5,000)
(rounded to the
£000
nearest £00)

25-30

10.3 Pension Entitlements
Name and
title

Real
increase
in pension
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at age 60
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2009 (bands
of £5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2009 (bands
of £5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2009

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2008

Real
increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Employer’s
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension 1st
December
2008 to 31
March 2009

£000
0-2.5

£000
5-7.5

£000
50-55

£000
160-165

£000
1,153

£000
852

£000
280

£00
nil

0-2.5

5-7.5

15-20

50-55

266

187

74

nil

7.5-10

22.5-25

45-50

145-150

980

627

337

nil

2.5-5

12.5-15

30-35

95-100

489

319

162

nil

0-2.5

0-2.5

35-40

115-120

818

623

179

nil

Sheila
0-2.5
Samuels
Director
of Human
Resources
0-2.5
Simon
Wright
Director of
Operations

2.5-5

30-35

95-100

594

451

131

nil

2.5-5

10-15

35-40

187

131

54

nil

Catherine
Beardshaw
Chief
Executive
Chris
Knights
Director of
Business
Planning
Gordon
Ramsden
Medical
Director
Jonathan
Stephens
Director of
Finance
Kath
Holbourn
Director
of Nursing
& Service
Development

As non-executive directors do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for
non-executive directors.

37

Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Report 2008/09

11. Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities
as the accounting officer of Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
The National Health Service Act 2006 states that
the chief executive is the accounting officer of the
NHS Foundation Trust. The relevant responsibilities of
accounting officer, including their responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of public finances for which they
are answerable, and for the keeping of proper accounts,
are set out in the accounting officers’ Memorandum
issued by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts (“Monitor”).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006, Monitor
has directed the Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis
set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and of its income and
expenditure, total recognised gains and losses and cash
flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is
required to comply with the requirements of the NHS
foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual and in
particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by Monitor,
including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards as set
out in the NHS Foundation Trust
• Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material
• departures in the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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The accounting officer is responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the NHS
foundation Trust and to enable him/her to ensure that
the accounts comply with requirements outlined in the
above mentioned Act.
The Accounting Officer is also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the NHS Foundation Trust
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly
discharged the responsibilities set out in Monitor’s NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
Date: 5th June 2009

12. Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust Statement of Internal Control
1. Scope of Responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the NHS Foundation
Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding
the public funds and departmental assets for which
I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for
ensuring that the NHS Foundation Trust is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

2 The Purpose of the System of
Internal Control
The system of internal control is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control
is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies,
aims and objectives of Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of
those risks being realised and the impact should they
be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically. The system of internal control has
been in place in Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2009 and
up to the date of approval of the annual report
and accounts.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of
the NHS Pension Scheme control measures are in place
to ensure all employer obligations contained within the
Scheme regulations are complied with.

3 Capacity to Handle Risk
Leadership & Accountability
I have delegated the responsibility for risk management
to the Director of Nursing and Governance. A supporting
system for managing risk has been devolved to the
Deputy Director of Nursing & Governance, bringing
together all aspects of the risk management process and
governance systems. Further support is provided to the
Trust’s risk management systems through designated
risk and clinical governance leads within divisions.

The current Risk Management Strategy provides a
framework for managing risk across the organisation
in line with best practice and Department of Health
guidance. The strategy provides a clear, structured and
systematic approach to the management of risk to
ensure that risk assessment is an integral part of
clinical, managerial and financial processes across
the organisation.
The role of the Board and the committees, together
with individual responsibilities of the Chief Executive,
Executive Directors, managers and all staff are set out
within the strategy, and in particular the role of the
Governance Committee which is the mechanism for
managing and monitoring risks across the Trust and
reporting through to the Board. Board committees
covering Patient & Workforce Experience and the
Audit Committee support this role along with the sub
committees of Clinical Governance, Infection Control and
Safety and Risk.
Training
Risk management training is provided through a
number of sources. The Trust’s corporate induction
programme ensures all new staff (including consultant
appointments) are provided with details of the Trust’s
risk management systems and processes. This is
also supported by a local induction programme. Risk
management training is provided to all levels of staff
within the organisation based upon the requirements of
the position held.
The comprehensive mandatory training programme
was reviewed and updated during 2007/08. Mandatory
training covers a wide variety of risk management
processes including, Health and Safety, Manual Handling,
Resuscitation and Blood Transfusion. An E-learning
system has been developed by key individuals across the
organisation to support the future delivery of the Trust’s
mandatory requirements.
Root Cause Analysis training has been undertaken by a
number of Divisional staff including those specific staff
members who have dedicated responsibility for risk
management within their areas and it is envisaged that
this training will be further disseminated within
the future.
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Control Mechanisms including ‘Learning Lessons’
Each clinical division has, within their establishment,
clearly defined posts in governance/risk management.
These key post holders work closely together, sharing
best practice and learning lessons collectively rather than
on an individual Divisional basis.
A single IT Risk Management System is in place which
links all key risk elements (including incident reporting,
complaints and claims management) and which, in turn,
inform the Trust’s Risk Register.
Lessons learned when things go wrong are
shared throughout the organisation via a range of
mechanisms including safety alerts, newsletters and
governance forums.
The Trust board routinely considers specific risk issues
and receives minutes from Board Sub-Committees
including the Audit and Governance Committees. The
Governance Committee, on behalf of the Trust board,
routinely receives information on Serious Untoward
Incidents (SUI’s) including lessons learned and examples
of good practice.
The Trust actively encourages networking and has strong
links with relevant central bodies, e.g. National Patient
Safety Agency (NPSA), National Health Service Litigation
Authority (NHSLA), Health and Safety Executive (HSE),
and acts on recommendations / alerts from these bodies
as appropriate.

4 The risk and control framework
The risk management framework is set out in the Risk
Management Strategy. The key elements of the strategy
include delegated roles and responsibilities in respect of
the various elements of the risk management process
and a strong focus on the training and support given
to staff within the organisation to enable them to fulfill
their responsibilities.
There is a robust system in place of risk identification,
monitoring and reporting throughout the organisation’s
divisions and committees. The Trust’s strategic
risk register is based upon the principle risks of
the organisation and is populated by all services/
departments via local risk registers, which are monitored
and maintained within divisions. This enables risk
management decision-making to occur as near as
practicable to the risk source and for those risks that
cannot be dealt with locally to be escalated to the
appropriate level.
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The Safety and Risk Sub Committee maintains and
monitors the Corporate Risk register on a monthly
basis. The Governance Committee has an overarching
role to ensure that significant issues are brought to the
attention of the Trust board.
The Trust employs a number of systems to ensure that
risk management is embedded within the organisation
including business planning and performance
management frameworks. Regular reports are also
available to the various committees responsible for
aspects of risk management.
The Trust has a number of corporate policies and
procedures in place to support risk management,
covering the management of adverse incidents, safety
alerts, and consent and general risk management
arrangements.
The Trust encourages stakeholder and partner
organisations participation and has developed an active
Patient Advisory Group with representatives attending
the Patient Experience and Workforce Committee.
Representatives are encouraged to raise issues, be
involved in determining solutions and input to all aspects
of risk management. Input from both Warrington LINks
and Halton LINks, along with the emissary members of
Warrington Overview and Safety Committee has been
a welcome addition in providing patient and public
involvement on a range of issues.
There is a Board approved Assurance Framework in place
which is reviewed by the Governance Committee and the
Trust board, and includes the following:
• the strategic objectives of the Trust covering the main
activities of the organisation
• the identification of the key risks to the achievement
of the strategic objectives and the systems in place to
manage/ mitigate these risks
• links to the Department of Health, “Standards for
Better Health” and the corporate risk register are
included within the framework providing a holistic
review of strategically significant risks relating to the
organisation’s business.
• Compliance with equality diversity and human
rights legislation.

The Assurance Framework and the Standards for Better
Health declaration have provided clear mechanisms for
identifying gaps in control and assurance, and enabled
these to be managed in year. The Trust has established
robust systems to identify monitor and implement
actions in respect of working towards the achievement
of all of its targets (including the Standards of Better
Health) in conjunction with partner organisations.
The Trust complies with equality, diversity and human
rights legislation. The Trust has provided declaration
to this effect as part of the Annual Health Check. In
addition, the Trust received independent assurance
from its’ internal auditors in respect of the evidence to
demonstrate compliance. The Trust has continued to
strengthen and embed these arrangements through
provision of additional resources.
Risks to information are managed and controlled
through the use of the Information Governance Toolkit.
The Trust submitted an Information Governance self
assessment score in March 2009 of 70% (Green Status).
During 2008 the Trust’s IM&T department
commissioned the Mersey Internal Audit Agency
to undertake a review of its information security
arrangements. The review produced a route map forward
which is now being used by an IM&T project team to
develop a robust Information Security Management
System which is required to comply with ISO/IEC 27001
(the international Information Security Standard).
Post Graduate level Information Security Management
certification has been achieved by a member of the
Trust’s IM&T Team during 2008. Access to appropriately
trained Information Governance subject matter experts
is a requirement of the IG Toolkit.
The Trust has had no Data Protection/Personal Data
related incidents of severity 3-5 (SUI’s) which require
reporting in the SIC for this time period.

5 Review of Economy, Efficiency and
Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The Foundation Trust’s financial plan, which was
submitted to Monitor, the Independent Regulator of
Foundation Trusts, included a planned surplus of £0.9
million for the period from Authorisation to March 31st
2009. This plan included a savings target (described
within the organisation as the cost improvement
programme target) which has been delivered in full in
year and recurrently and this provides a firm baseline
for the forthcoming year. In addition the Foundation
Trust has overachieved against the planned surplus
by achieving an actual surplus for the part year of
£1.5 million.
The resources of the Foundation Trust are managed
within the framework set by the Standing Financial
Instructions and various guidance documents that are
produced within the Foundation Trust which have a
particular emphasis on budgetary control and ensuring
that service developments are implemented with
appropriate financial controls.
The Board of Directors receives a comprehensive finance
report on a monthly basis incorporating all relevant
financial information including future projections to allow
them to discharge their duties effectively.
The Foundation Trust also provides financial information
to Monitor, the independent Regulator of Foundation
Trusts on a quarterly basis inclusive of financial
tables and a commentary. The resource and financial
governance arrangements are further supported by both
internal and external audit to secure economic, efficient
and effective use of the resources the Foundation Trust
has at its disposal.
Clinical Divisions and other corporate functions are
explicitly made responsible for the delivery of financial
and other performance targets through a system of
Performance Targets which are agreed as part of the
annual business planning cycle and monitored through a
series of meetings led by the Director of Finance.
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6 Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control. My
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors
and the executive managers within the NHS Foundation
Trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework including
the Head of Internal Audit Opinion of Significant
Assurance in relation to internal control and comments
made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
I have also received independent auditor assurance
provided on behalf of NHS Shared Business Services Ltd
clients confirming the robustness and effectiveness of
controls associated with the shared financial services
provided to the Trust.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of
my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control by the board and the audit committee and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.
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There have been no significant gaps in control to
report in this statement, with the exception of the
Core Standards for Better Health; Core Standard C1b
Safety Alerts, for which the Trust has declared “not met”
because a small number (8) of the 2008/09 Central
Alerting System (CAS) alerts were not concluded in full
in the specified timescales. The Trust has assessed all
the CAS alerts, and other safety alerts and there is no
evidence of harm to patients or staff as a consequence
of the uncompleted alerts. The Trust has taken action
to strengthen systems and processes underpinning the
alert system to prevent recurrence of failure against this
standard. All actions including compliance with all alerts
were completed by the 31 May 2009.

7 Conclusion
In conclusion, I can confirm that during the period from
authorisation until March 31st 2009 no significant
internal control issues have been identified.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive (5th June 2009)

13. Appendix 1 - Annual Report and Accounts
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
for the period 1st December 2008 to 31st March 2009
Foreword to the accounts for the period 1st December 2008 to 31 March 2009
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
These accounts for the period ended 31st March 2009 have been prepared by the Warrington and Halton
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust under a direction issued by Monitor in accordance with Schedule 7,
sections 24 and 25 of the National Health Services Act 2006.

Catherine Beardshaw
Chief Executive
3rd June 2009
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Governors’ Council of
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
I have audited the financial statements of Warrington
and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust for the
period ended 31 March 2009 under the National Health
Service Act 2006. The financial statements comprise the
Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the
Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Total Recognised
Gains and Losses and the related notes. These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out within them. I have also audited the
information in the Remuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.
This report is made solely to the Board of Governors
of Warrington and Halton NHS Foundation Trust as a
body in accordance with paragraph 24(5) of Schedule
7 of the National Health Service Act 2006. My work
was undertaken so that I might state to the Board of
Governors those matters I am required to state to it in
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. In those
circumstances, to the fullest extent permitted by law, I
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Foundation Trust as a body, for my audit work,
for the audit report or for the opinions I form.

Respective responsibilities of the
Accounting Officer and auditor
The Accounting Officer’s responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements in accordance with directions
made by the Independent Regulator of NHS Foundation
Trusts (Monitor) are set out in the Statement of
Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities.
My responsibility is to audit the financial statements
in accordance with statute, the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts and International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland).
I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view in accordance
with the accounting policies directed by Monitor as
being relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts. I report
whether the financial statements and the part of
the Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the accounting
policies directed by Monitor as being relevant to NHS
Foundation Trusts. I also report to you whether, in my
opinion, the information, which comprises commentary
on the financial performance, included within How
We Performed and the Review of the Year included
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in the Annual Report, is consistent with the financial
statements.
I review whether the Accounting Officer’s statement
on internal control reflects compliance with the
requirements of Monitor contained in the NHS
Foundation Trust Financial Reporting Manual 2008/09. I
report if it does not meet the requirements specified by
Monitor or if the statement is misleading or inconsistent
with other information I are aware of from my audit of
the financial statements. I am not required to consider,
nor have I considered, whether the Accounting Officer’s
statement on internal control covers all risks and
controls. Neither am I required to form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Trusts corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.
I read the other information contained in the Annual
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited financial statements. This other information
comprises the Chairman’s and the Chief Executive’s
Statement, the Review of the Year, the sections on the
Board of Governors, the Board of Directors, membership
and public interest disclosures and the un-audited part
of the Remuneration Report. I consider the implications
for my report if I become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. My responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the National
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor, which requires
compliance with International Standards on Auditing
(United Kingdom and Ireland) issued by the Auditing
Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and the part
of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the directors in the preparation of
the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Trust’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all
the information and explanations which I considered
necessary in order to provide me with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that:
• the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error; and
• the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited have been
properly prepared.
In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements and the part of the Remuneration
Report to be audited.

Certificate
I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts
in accordance with the requirements of the National
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit Code for NHS
Foundation Trusts issued by Monitor.

Julian Farmer Officer of the Audit Commission
The Heath Technical and Business Park
The Heath
Runcorn WA7 4QF
5 June 2OO9

Opinion
In my opinion:
• The financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust as at 31 March 2009 and of its
income and expenditure for the period then ended in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted by
the Trust;
• The part of the Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies directed by Monitor as being
relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts; and
• Information which comprises the commentary on
the financial performance included within the How
we have Performed, the Review of the Year and the
Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s Statement, included
within the Annual Report, is consistent with the
financial statements.
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT			
For the period 1st December to 31st March 2009			
			
			
NOTE
£000
			
Income from activities
3.1
57,468
			
Other operating income
4
5,143
			
Operating expenses
5.1
(59,528)
OPERATING SURPLUS		
3,083
			
Cost of fundamental reorganisation/restructuring		
0
(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets
8
0
SURPLUS BEFORE INTEREST		
3,083
			
Finance Income
9
25
Finance costs - interest expense
9
(167)
Other net gains/(losses) on financial instruments		
0
Other finance costs - unwinding of discount		
0
Other finance costs - change in discount rate on provisions		
0
SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION		
2,941
			
Taxation		
0
SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION		
2,941
			
Public Dividend Capital dividends payable		
(1,429)
			
RETAINED SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR		
1,512
			
The above Income and Expenditure Account is for a part year period only from the 1st December 2008 to the 31st
March 2009. This set of accounts does not have comparative year figures as Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust only became a legal entity on the 1st December 2008.			

The notes on pages 5 to 27 form part of these accounts.
All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT				
31st March 2009			
31 March 2009 01 December 2008
NOTE
£000
£000
FIXED ASSETS				
Tangible assets
11.1
TOTAL FIXED ASSETS		

125,885
125,885

123,485
123,485

CURRENT ASSETS				
Stocks and work in progress
13
2,403
2,404
Debtors falling due within 1 year
14
8,381
10,141
Cash at bank and in hand
19.0
6,748
9,513
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS		
17,532
22,058
		
CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year
16.1
(23,172)
(24,626)
		
NET CURRENT ASSETS		
(5,640)
(2,568)
			
Debtors falling due after 1 year
14
1,265
1,100
		
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES		
121,510
122,017
			
CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year
16.1
(3,150)
(5,065)
			
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
17
(1,740)
(1,897)
			
TOTAL ASSETS EMPLOYED		
116,620
115,055
			
FINANCED BY:				
			
TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY
18		
Public dividend capital
18.2
75,950
75,950
Revaluation reserve
18.3
37,066
37,066
Donated asset reserve
18.3
1,386
1,333
Income and expenditure reserve
18.3
2,218
706
			
TOTAL TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY		
116,620
115,055
			
			
				
Signed:

(Chief Executive)

Date: 03.06.09		

The financial statements on pages 1 to 27 were approved by the Board on 3rd June 2009 and signed on its behalf by
Catherine Beardshaw - Chief Executive
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STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES 		
For the period 1st December to 31st March 2009		
		
		
		
		
Surplus for the period before dividend payments		
		
Increase in Donated Asset reserve due to receipt of donated asset		
		
Reduction in the donated asset reserve due to depreciation, impairment,
and/or disposal of donated assets		
		
Total gains and losses recognised in the period		
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£000
2,941
100		

(47)
2,994

CASH FLOW STATEMENT			
For the period 1st December to 31st March 2009				
		
NOTE
£000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net cash inflow from operating activities		
19.1
7,418
			
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE:				
Interest received			
25
Interest Paid			
(229)
Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance		
(204)
			
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE			
(Payments) to acquire tangible fixed assets			
(4,419)
Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets			
0
			
Net cash (outflow) from capital expenditure			
(4,419)
			
DIVIDENDS PAID			
(2,143)
			
Net cash inflow before management of liquid resources and financing			
652
			
MANAGEMENT OF LIQUID RESOURCES				
(Purchase) of current asset investments			
0
Sale of Current asset investments			
0
			
Net cash Inflow/(outflow) from Management of Liquid Resources		
0
				
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing			
652
			
FINANCING				
			
Public dividend capital received			
0
Public dividend capital repaid			
0
Loans repaid to the Department of Health			
(3,417)
			
Net cash (outflow) from financing			
(3,417)
Decrease in cash			
(2,765)
				
The above Cashflow Statement is for a part year period only from the 1st December 2008 to the 31st March 2009.
This set of accounts does not have comparative year figures as Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust only became a legal entity on the 1st December 2008
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Monitor has directed that the financial statements of
NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet with the accounting
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Financial
Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM
Treasury. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with
the 2008/09 NHS Foundation Trust Financial Reporting
Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies
contained in the manual follow UK generally accepted
accounting practice for companies (UK GAAP) and HM
Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that
they are meaningful and appropriate to NHS Foundation
Trusts. The accounting policies have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the NHS Foundation Trust will continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
have therefore continued to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing these accounts.
1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, modified to account for the revaluation
of tangible fixed assets at their value to the business by
reference to their current costs. NHS Foundation Trusts,
in compliance with HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting
Manual, are not required to comply with the FRS 3
requirements to report “earnings per share” or historical
profits and losses.
1.2 Acquisitions and discontinued operations
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ where they
meet all of the following conditions:
a. the sale (this may be at nil consideration for activities
transferred to another public sector body) or termination
is completed either in the period or before the earlier
of three months after the commencement of the
subsequent period and the date on which the financial
statements are approved;
b. if a termination, the former activities have
ceased permanently;
c. the sale or termination has a material effect on the
nature and focus of the reporting NHS Foundation
Trust’s operations and represents a material reduction in
its operating facilities resulting either from its withdrawal
from a particular activity or from a material reduction
in income in the NHS Foundation Trust’s continuing
operations; and
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d. the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities
are clearly distinguishable, physically, operationally and
for financial reporting purposes.
Operations not satisfying all these conditions are
classified as continuing.
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ whether or not
they are acquired from outside the public sector.
1.3 Income Recognition
Income is accounted for applying the accruals
convention. The main source of income for the NHS
Foundation Trust is from Commissioners in respect of
healthcare services provided under local agreements,
NHS Contracts. Income is recognised in the period
in which services are provided and, therefore where
material, for patients whose treatment straddles the year
end, income is apportioned across the financial years on
the basis of length of stay. Where income is received
for a specific activity, which is to be delivered in the
following financial year, that income is deferred.
1.4 Expenditure
Expenditure is accounted for applying the
accruals convention.
1.5 Tangible fixed assets
1.5.1 Capitalisation
Tangible assets are capitalised if they are capable
of being used for a period which exceeds one year
and they:
- individually have a cost of at least £5,000;
- collectively have a cost of at least £5,000 and
individually have a cost of more than £250, where
the assets are functionally interdependent, they had
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single
managerial control; or
- form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost
of a new building, ward or unit irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.

1.5.2 Valuation
Tangible fixed assets are stated at the lower of
replacement cost and recoverable amount. Upon initial
recognition, they are measured at cost (for leased
assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation
directly attributable to bringing them into working
condition. They are restated to current value each
year. The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are
reviewed for impairment in periods if events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable.

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated
until the asset is brought into operational use.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on
their current value over the estimated remaining life of
the asset as assessed by the NHS Foundation Trust’s
professional valuers. Leaseholds are depreciated over the
primary lease term.		
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the
estimated life.

All land and buildings are revalued using professional
valuations in accordance with FRS15 every five years with
the next such valuation to be carried out in the financial
year 2009/10. In addition as a Foundation Trust there will
be three yearly interim valuation which will commence in
2012/13.

Buildings exc dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

In accordance with the requirements of FRS15 to review
asset values annually the NHS Foundation Trust has
reviewed the current asset valuations and do not consider
that there is likely to have been a material change in
values such that it requires an interim valuation by an
independent valuer to be carried out at this time.
Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified
valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisals and
Valuation Manual.
The valuations are carried out on the basis of
depreciated replacement cost for specialised operational
property, and existing use value for non-specialised
operational property. The value of land for existing
use purposes is assessed at existing use value. For
non-operational properties including surplus land, the
valuations are carried out at open market.
Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost
and are valued by professional valuers as part of the five
and three-yearly valuation, or when they are brought
into use.
Operational equipment is valued at net current
replacement cost. Equipment surplus to requirements is
valued at net recoverable amount.

Min Life
Years
12
33
5
5
7

Max Life
Years
43
43
15
8
10

Fixed asset impairments resulting from losses of
economic benefits are charged to the income and
expenditure account. All other impairments are taken to
the revaluation reserve and reported in the statement of
total recognised gains and losses to the extent that there
is a balance on the revaluation reserve in respect of the
particular asset.
1.6 Intangible fixed assets
Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable
of being used in a trust’s activities for more than one
year; they can be valued; and they have a cost of at least
£5,000.
Intangible fixed assets held for operational use are
valued at historical cost and are amortised over the
estimated life of the asset on a straight line basis.
The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for
impairment at the end of the first full year following
acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable.
Purchased computer software licences are capitalised
as intangible fixed assets where expenditure of at least
£5,000 is incurred and amortised over the shorter of the
term of the licence and their useful economic lives

1.5.3 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at rates calculated
to write them down to estimated residual value on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets
surplus to requirements.
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1.7 Donated fixed assets
Donated fixed assets are capitalised at their current
value on receipt and this value is credited to the donated
asset reserve. Donated fixed assets are valued and
depreciated as described above for purchased assets.
Gains and losses on revaluations are also taken to the
donated asset reserve and, each year, an amount equal
to the depreciation charge on the asset is released
from the donated asset reserve to the income and
expenditure account. Similarly, any impairment on
donated assets charged to the income and expenditure
account is matched by a transfer from the donated asset
reserve. On sale of donated assets, the net book value of
the donated asset is transferred from the donated asset
reserve to the Income and Expenditure Reserve.
1.8 Government grants
Government grants are grants from Government bodies
other than income from primary care trusts or NHS trusts
for the provision of services. Grants from the Department
of Health, including those for achieving three star status,
are accounted for as Government grants as are grants
from the Big Lottery Fund. Where the Government
grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken
to the Income and Expenditure account to match that
expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital
expenditure the grant is held as deferred income and
released to the income and expenditure account over
the life of the asset on a basis consistent with the
depreciation charge for that asset.
1.9 Stocks and work-in-progress
Stocks and work-in-progress are valued at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. This is considered to be
a reasonable approximation to current cost due to the
high turnover of stocks.
1.10 Cash, bank and overdrafts
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at
current values. Interest earned on bank accounts
and interest charged on overdrafts are recorded as,
respectively, “interest receivable” and “interest payable”
in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are
recorded as operating expenditure in the periods to
which they relate. The balances exclude monies held in
the bank accounts belonging to patients (Note 27 Third
Party Assets).

1.11 Provisions
The NHS Foundation Trust provides for legal or
constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or
amount at the balance sheet date on the basis of the
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are
discounted using the Treasury’s discount rate of 2.2% in
real terms.
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk
pooling scheme under which the NHS Foundation Trust
pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA which in
return settles all clinical negligence claims. Although
the NHSLA is administratively responsible for all
clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains
with the NHS Foundation Trust, however all clinical
negligence claims are recognised in the accounts of
the NHSLA. Consequently, the NHS Foundation Trust
has no provision for the clinical negligence claims. The
total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by
the NHSLA on behalf of the NHS Foundation Trust is
disclosed at note 17a.
Since financial responsibility for clinical negligence cases
transferred to the NHSLA at 1 April 2002, the only charge
to operating expenditure in relation to clinical negligence
in 2008/09 relates to the Trust’s contribution to the
Clinical Negligence Scheme for NHS Foundation Trusts
(£682,000 for the 4 month period to March 31st).
Non-clinical risk pooling
The NHS Foundation Trust participates in the Property
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which
the NHS Foundation Trust pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives
assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual
membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’ payable
in respect of particular claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they become due.
Insurances
The NHS Foundation Trust has also arranged further
additional insurance cover to supplement the
above schemes.
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1.12 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the
provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The Scheme is
an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed
under the direction of the Secretary of State for England
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in
a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their
share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
This is because the movement of individual member’s
between NHS bodies is not tracked and recorded by the
pension agency. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for
as a defined contribution scheme and the cost to the
NHS body participating in the scheme is equal to the
contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial investigation
every four years. The main purpose of which is to assess
the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under
the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates
to be paid by employers and scheme members. The
last such investigation, on the conclusions of which
scheme contribution rates are currently based, had an
effective date of valuation on this basis took place as
at 31 March 2004 and covered the period from 1 April
1999 to that date. Between the full actuarial valuations,
the Government Actuary provides an annual update of
the scheme liabilities for FRS 17 purposes. The latest
assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained
in the Scheme Actuary report, which forms part of the
NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Resource
Account, published annually. These accounts can be
viewed on the Business Service Authority - Pensions
Division website at www.nhspa.gov.uk. Copies can also
be obtained from The Stationery Office.
The conclusion of the 2004 investigation was that the
scheme had accumulated a notional deficit of £3.3billion
against notional assets as at 31 March 2004 and that it
continues to be funded on a sound basis. This is after
making some allowance for the one-off effect of pay
modernisation, but before taking into account any of
the scheme changes which come into effect on 1 April
2008. Taking into account the changes in the benefit
and contribution structure effective from 1 April 2008,
employer contributions could continue at the existing
rate of 14% of pensionable pay. On advice from the
actuary, scheme contributions may be varied from time
to time to reflect changes in the scheme’s liabilities.
From 1 April 2008, employees will pay contributions
according to a tiered scale from 5% up to 8.5% of their
pensionable pay.

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions
are normally based on 1/80th of the best of the last 3
years pensionable pay for each year of service. A lump
sum normally equivalent to 3 years pension is payable
on retirement. Annual increases are applied to pension
payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase)
Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in
the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous
calendar year. On death, a pension of 50% of the
member’s pension is normally payable to the
surviving spouse.
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement,
is available to members of the Scheme who are
permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively
through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of 2
final years pensionable pay for death in services, and
up to five times their annual pension for death after
retirement, less pensions already paid, subject to a
maximum amount equal to twice the member’s final
years pensionable pay less their retirement lump sum for
those who die after retirement is payable.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirement
are not funded by the scheme except where the
retirement is due to ill-health. For early retirements not
funded by the scheme, the full amount of the liability
for the additional costs is charged to the Income and
Expenditure account at the time the NHS Foundation
Trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the
method of payment.
The Scheme provides the opportunity to members
to increase their benefits through money purchase
Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) provided
by an approved panel of life companies. Under
the arrangement the employee/member can make
contributions to enhance an employee’s pension
benefits. The benefits payable relate directly to the
value of the investments made.
1.13 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the NHS Foundation Trust are
outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does
not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.14 Corporation Tax
The NHS Foundation Trust provides for any Corporation
Tax due on its trading activities.
1.15 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on
behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the NHS Foundation Trust has no beneficial interest
in them. Details of third party assets are given in Note
24 to the accounts.
1.16 Leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of
a leased asset are borne by the NHS Foundation Trust,
the asset is recorded as a tangible fixed asset and a debt
is recorded to the lessor of the minimum lease payments
discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease. The
interest element of the finance lease payment is charged
to the Income and Expenditure Account over the period
of the lease at a constant rate in relation to the balance
outstanding. Other leases are regarded as operating
leases and the rentals are charged to the Income and
Expenditure Account on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.
1.17 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and
PDC Dividend
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) is a type of public sector
equity fiance based on the excess of assets over liabilities
at the time of establishment of the original NHS Trust.
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised
by the NHS Foundation Trust, is paid over as public
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at
the real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the
average relevant net assets of the NHS Foundation Trust.
Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all
assets less the value of all liabilities, except for donated
assets and cash held with the Office of the Paymaster
General. Average relevant net assets are caluculated as
simple mean of opening and closing relevent net assets
1.18 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament
would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature
they are items that ideally should not arise. They are
therefore subject to special control procedures compared
with the generality of payments. They are divided
into different categories, which govern the way each
individual case is handled.
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Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant
functional headings in the Income and Expenditure
Account on an accruals basis, including losses which
would have been made good through insurance cover
had NHS Foundation Trusts not been bearing their own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as
normal revenue expenditure).
1.19 Financial instruments and financial liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from
contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in
accordance with the NHS Foundation Trust’s normal
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are recognised
when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e.
when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to
receive cashflows from the assets have expired or the
NHS Foundation Trust has transferred substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the
obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and Measurement
Financial assets are categorised as ‘Fair Value through
Income and Expenditure’, Loans and receivables or
Available for Sale financial assets.
Financial liabilities are classified as ‘Fair value
through Income and Expenditure’ or as ‘Other
Financial liabilities’.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘Fair Value
through Income and Expenditure’
Financial assets and financial liabilities at ‘fair value
through income and expenditure’ are financial assets or
financial liabilities held for trading. The NHS Foundation
Trust does not hold any of this particular class.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets.

Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities carried at
fair value, the carrying amounts are determined from
any of quoted market prices, independent appraisals or
discounted cash flow analysis.

The NHS Foundation Trust’s loans and receivables
comprise: Cash at bank and in hand, NHS debtors,
accrued income and ‘other debtors’.

Impairment of financial assets
At the balance sheet date, the Trust assesses whether
any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair
value through income and expenditure’ are impaired.
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses
are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events which
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the asset.

Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transactions costs, and are measured
subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that discounts exactly estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the
effective interest method and credited to the income
and expenditure account.
Available-for-sale financial assets
The NHS Foundation Trust does hold any of this class
of assets.
Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate
that discounts exactly estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or,
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount of the financial liability.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the revised future cash flows discounted at
the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is
recognised in the income and expenditure account and
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly.

2. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The Trust has only one business segment - Healthcare
and therfore has reported all activities as such.

They are included in current liabilities except for amounts
payable more than 12 months after the balance sheet
date, which are classified as long-term liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
is calculated using the effective interest method and
charged to the income and expenditure account.
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3. INCOME FROM ACTIVITES		
		
3.1 Income from Activities		
		
		
Total
		
£000
Mandatory Income		
Elective income 		
12,225
Non elective income 		
23,754
Outpatient income 		
10,799
A & E income 		
2,719
Other NHS clinical income 		
7,414
Non Mandatory Income		
PBR (clawback) / relief 		
Private patient income 		
42
Other non-protected clinical income *		
515
TOTAL 		
57,468
		
*Other non-protected clinical income relates to the income received from the Compensation Recovery Unit for Injury
Benefits.		
		
3.2 Private patient income		
		
2008/09
2002/03
		
£000
£000
Private patient income 		
42
269
Total patient related income 		
57,468
129,162
Proportion (as percentage)		
0.07%
0.21%
			
To comply with the NHS Foundation Trust’s Terms of Authorisation as a Foundation Trust and section 44 of the
2006 Act, the NHS Foundation Trust must ensure that the income received from treating private patients during the
year does not exceed a cap of 0.2% being the proportion whilst the body was an NHS Trust in 2002/03. The NHS
Foundation Trust is therefore compliant with its obligation in this respect.		
		
3.3 Income from activities by source		
		
Total
		
£000
Primary Care Trusts 		
53,025
Department of Health - other 		
3,724
NHS Other 		
162
Non NHS: Private patients 		
42
NHS injury scheme (was RTA)		
515
Non NHS: Other 		
0
TOTAL 		
57,468
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4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME		
		
		
Research and development 		
Education and training 		
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 		
Transfers from the donated asset reserve in respect of depreciation,
impairment and disposal of donated assets		
Non-patient care services to other bodies 		
Other 		
TOTAL 		
		

Total
£000
0
2,391
0
47
1,075
1,630
5,143

5. OPERATING EXPENSES			

			
5.1 Operating expenses comprise:			
			
		
Total
		
£000
Services from NHS Foundation Trusts 		
0
Services from NHS Trusts 		
0
Services from other NHS Bodies 		
0
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies		
245
Executive directors costs 		
358
Non-executive directors costs 		
39
Staff costs 		
43,942
Drug costs 		
753
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)		
5,778
Supplies and services - general 		
1,005
Establishment 		
705
Transport 		
524
Premises 		
3,354
Increase / (decrease) in bad debt provision		
0
Depreciation and amortisation 		
2,019
Statutory External Audit Fees		
84
Other audit work		
15
Clinical negligence 		
682
Other 		
25
TOTAL 		
59,528
			
			
5.2 Operating leases			
			
5.2/1 Operating expenses include:			
		
£000
			
Hire of plant and machinery		
81
Other operating lease rentals		
47
		
128
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5.2/2 Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are:			
		
£000
		 Land & Buildings
Annual commitments on leases expiring: 			
- within one year		
0
- between one and five years 		
0
- after five years 		
90
TOTAL 		
90

£000
Others
4
85
81
170

6. STAFF COSTS AND NUMBERS			
			
6.1 Staff costs			
			
Total
Permanently
		
Employed
£000
£000
			
Salaries and Wages
38,709
33,574
Social Security Costs
2,258
2,258
Employer contributions to NHS Pension
3,333
3,333
44,300
39,165
		
6.2 Average number of persons employed			
			
Total
Permanently
		
Employed
Number
Number
			
Medical and Dental
335
326
Administration and Estates
721
696
Healthcare Assistants and other support staff
745
731
Nursing, Midwifery and health visiting staff
1,060
941
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
493
474
		
Total
3,354
3,168
		
6.3 Employee benefits
There were no employee benefits made during the
period.
6.4 Retirements due to ill-health
During the 4 month period 2008/09 there were no (8
month period to 30 November 2008,2) early retirements
from the NHS Foundation Trust on the grounds of
ill-health. There will not therefore be any additional
pension liabilities for ill-health retirements (8 month
period to 30 November 2008, £114,354). The cost of
these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS
Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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Agency/
Contract Staff
£000
5,135

5,135

Other
Number
9
25
14
119
19
186

7. THE LATE PAYMENT OF COMMERCIAL DEBTS (INTEREST) ACT 1998
There were no payments made under this legislation.
7.1 Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance
		
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the period		
Total Non NHS trade invoices paid within target		
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target		
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the period		
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target		
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target		
		
As a NHS Foundation Trust, there is no requirement to
achieve the target of paying 95% of invoices within 30
days. It is however considered best practice to achieve
this target.
For the period from Authorisation to March 31st 2009
the NHS Foundation Trust did not meet this however for
the full 12 month period this target was met for non NHS
trade invoices
In order to help small businesses, the Department of
Health have asked NHS organisations to move towards
10-day payment in response to current economic
circumstances. Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust has sought to achieve this.

8. PROFIT/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF FIXED
ASSETS
There was no material disposal of fixed assets in the
period.

01.12.08 - 31.03.09
Number
£000
23,231
18,476
21,592
16,943
93%
92%
1,096
6,049
679
3,728
62%
62%

9. Interest Receivable and Payable
9.1 Finance Income
The NHS Foundation Trust received £25,000 from cash
deposited in the Paymaster General Account.
9.2 Finance costs
The NHS Foundation Trust incurred Interest Payable
charges during the period on the following Loans as
detailed below;
£000’s
Working Capital Loan
87
Capital Loan
80
167

10.Intangible Assets
There are no Intangible Assets for the NHS Foundation
Trust.
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11. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS									

11.1 Tangible fixed assets									
Total
Land
Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
A
£000
£000
£000
£000
Cost or valuation at 1st December 2008
Additions - purchased
Additions - donated
Impairments
Reclassifications
Other revaluations
Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2009
Depreciation at 1st December 2008
Provided during the year
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Reclassifications
Other revaluations
Disposals
Depreciation at 31 March 2009

137,362
23,669
80,888
1,597
4,319		
3,183
3
100		
100						
0								
0		
3,197
(460)
0								
0								
141,781
23,669
87,368
1,140

13,877		
2,258
35		
2,019		
1,037
2		
0								
0								
0								
0								
0								
15,896
0
3,295
37

Net book value 									
NBV - Purchased at 1 December 2008
122,152
23,669
77,764
1,562
NBV - Donated at 1 December 2008
1,333		
866			
NBV total at 1 December 2008
123,485
23,669
78,630
1,562
									
Net book value 									
NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2009
124,499
23,669
83,120
1,103
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2009
1,386		
953		
NBV total at 31 March 2009
125,885
23,669
84,073
1,103
11.2 Analysis of tangible fixed assets
Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings excluding dwellings
£000

Dwellings
£000

As

Net book value
0								
NBV - Protected assets at 31 March 2009
107,427
23,669
82,655
1,103		
NBV - Unprotected assets at 31 March 2009
18,458		
1,418			
Total at 31 March 2009
125,885
23,669
84,073
1,103
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Assets under Construction Plant & Machinery
Transport Equipment
Information Technology
£000
£000
£000
£000

3,273
20,886		
6,518
340
567		
106
						
								
(3,613) 				
								
								
0
21,453
0
6,624

		
9,419		
1,833
		
707		
248
								
								
								
								
								
0
10,126
0
2,081

									
3,273
11,021
0
4,685
			
446			
3,273
11,467
0
4,685
									
									
0
10,905
0
4,543
0
422
0
0
0
11,327
0
4,543

Assets under Construction Plant & Machinery
£000
£000

Transport Equipment
£000

Furniture & Fittings
£000
531
120

876

1,527
332
25

357

178
21
199

1,159
11
1,170

Information Technology
£000

Furniture & Fittings
£000

								
		
0
0
0
			
11,327		
4,543
0
11,327
0
4,543
									

0
1,170
1,170
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11.3 Tangible Fixed Assets
As at the 31st March 2009 the Fixed Assets do not
include any assets valued at open market value. As at
the balance sheet date all land, buildings and dwellings
are freehold.

12 Fixed Asset Investment
The Trust does not have any Fixed Assets held as
investments.

11.4 Net Book value of assets held under finance
lease and hire purchase contracts at the Balance
Sheet date
The Trust does not hold any assets under finance lease
and hire purchase contracts.

13. STOCKS AND WORK IN PROGRESS			
		
31 March 2009
		
£000
			
Consumables-medical pharmacy estates and catering		
2,403
			
TOTAL 		
2,403
			
			
			

1 December 2008
£000

		
31 March 2009
		
£000
			
Amounts falling due within one year:			
NHS debtors		
4,750
Provision for impaired debtors		
(136)
Other prepayments and accrued income		
1,125
Other debtors		
2,642
Sub Total		
8,381
			
Amounts falling due after more than one year:			
Other debtors		
1,372
Provision for impaired debtors		
(107)
Sub Total		
1,265
		
TOTAL		
9,646

1 December 2008
£000

2,404
2,404

14.1 DEBTORS		
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5,791
(242)
2,031
2,561
10,141

1,100
0
1,100
11,241

Note 14.2 Provision for impairment of debtors			
		
2008/09
		
£000
At 1 April		
0
At start of period for new FT’s 		
243
Increase in provision		
0
Amounts utilised		
0
Unused amounts reversed		
0
At 31 March		
243
			
Note 14.3 Analysis of impaired debtors			
2008/09
		
£000
Ageing of impaired debtors			
Up to three months 		
1
In three to six months 		
2
Over six months 		
240
Total * 		
243
Ageing of non-impaired debtors past their due date		
Up to three months 		
4,460
In three to six months 		
816
Over six months 		
453
Total 		
5,729
		

15. Current Asset Investments

The NHS Foundation Trust does not hold any current Asset Investments at this date.

16. CREDITORS				
		
16.1 Creditors at the balance sheet date are made up of:				
				
31 March 2009
1 December 2008
		
£000
£000
Amounts falling due within one year:		
Bank overdrafts		
NHS creditors		
Tax 		
Social security costs		
Non - NHS trade creditors - capital		
Other creditors		
Current year instalments on loans		
Bank Interest payable		
PDC Interest		
Accruals and deferred income		
Sub Total		

0
2,481
1,827
1,441
2,805
4,328
2,332
7
0
7,951
23,172

0
3,681
1,776
1,424
2,240
3,459
3,834
69
714
6,158
23,355

Amounts falling due after more than one year:		
NHS creditors		
Loans		
Sub Total		
TOTAL		

0
3,150
3,150
26,322

0
5,065
5,065
28,420
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16.2 Prudential borrowing limit
Total long term borrowing limit set by Monitor
Working capital facility agreed by Monitor
TOTAL PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMIT

£000
13,300
15,000
28,300

The NHS Foundation Trusts is required to comply and
remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made
up of two elements:i> The maximum cumulative amount of long term
borrowing. This is set by reference to the five ratio tests
set out in Monitor’s Prudential Borrowing Code. The
financial risk rating set under Monitor’s Compliance
Framework determines one of the ratios and can
therefore impact on the long term borrowing limit.

ii> The amount of any working capital facility approved
by Monitor.
Further information on the NHS Foundation Trust
The NHS Foundation Trust has a prudential borrowing
limit of £28,300,000 in 2008/09 including the working
capital facility of £15,000,000 (£13,300,000 net
limit.) The NHS Foundation Trust has £5,482,000 of
outstanding borrowing against this net limit after having
repaid £3,417,000 of loans in the period.
The NHS Foundation Trust working capital facility of
£15,000,000 has not been utilised in the period.

Financial Ratio

Actual Ratios
Approved PBL Ratios
Status
2008/09
2008/09
			
		
Maximum debt/capital ratio
4.60%
25%
Achieved			
Minimum Dividend Cover
3 times
1 time
Achieved			
Minimum interest cover
33 times
3 times
Achieved			
Minimum debt service cover
3.4 times
2 times
Achieved			
Maximum debt service to revenue
2%
3%
Achieved			
				
16.3 Finance Lease Obligations
The NHS Foundation Trust does not hold any Finance Leases.

17. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
							
pensions
legal
Other
Total
£000
£000
£000
£000
At 1st December 2008
1,027
179
691
1,897
Arising during the period
425
119
203
747
Utilised during the period
(62)
(177)
(279)
(518)
Reversed unused			
(386)
(386)
					
At 31st March 2009
1,390
121
229
1,740
						
Expected timing of cashflows:				
Within one year
200
121
229
550
Between one and five years
700
0
0
700
After five years
490
0
0
490
The amounts and timings of the above provisions are subject to significant uncertainty.
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Pensions provision relates to early retirement costs in
line with the NHS Business Service Authority - Pensions
Division. Legal claims provisions includes £120,597 for
employers and public liability claims advised by the NHS
Litigation Authority. Others includes £125,786 in relation
to estimated outstanding settlements and legal fees
Any contingencies associated with Employers and
Occupiers liability claims are disclosed at Note 22.
17a Clinical Negligence Liabilities
£25,598,220 is included in the provisions of the NHS
Litigation Authority at 31 March 2009 in respect of
clinical liabilities of the NHS Trust No comparison is
available at November 30th 2008. The provision of
North Cheshire Hospitals NHS Trust was £21.5M at
March 31st 2008.

18. MOVEMENT IN TAXPAYER’S EQUITY
18.1 Movement in taxpayers’ equity
Taxpayers’ equity at 1st December 2008
Surplus for the financial period
Public dividend capital dividends
Donated assets received
(Reductions) in donated asset reserve
Taxpayers’ equity at 31st March 2009

£000
115,055
2,941
(1,429)
100
(47)
116,620

18.2 Movements in public dividend capital
£000
Public dividend capital at 1st December 2008 75,950
New public dividend capital received
0
Public dividend capital repaid in period
0
Public dividend capital at 31st March 2009 75,950

18.3 Movement on Reserves					
Movements on reserves in the year comprised the following:				
Revaluation Reserve
		
£000

Donated Asset
Reserve
£000

Income and
Expenditure Reserve
£000

£000

At 30th November 2008
37,066
Adjustments to opening balances 0
At 1st December 2008 as restated
37,066
Transfer from the income and
expenditure account
0
Transfer of realised profits/(losses)
to the income and expenditure reserve
0
Receipt of donated/government
granted assets
0

1,333
0
1,333

706
0
706

39,105
0
39,105

0

1,512

1,512

(47)

0

(47)

100

0

100

At 31st March 2009

1,386

2,218

40,670

37,066

Total
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19.

NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT			

			
19.1 Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash flow from operating activities:			
		

£000		

Total operating surplus		
3,083
Depreciation and amortisation charge		
2,019
Transfer from donated asset reserve		
(47)
Other Movements			
Decrease in stocks		
1
Decrease in debtors		
1,595
Increase in creditors 		
924
Decrease in provisions 		
(157)
			
Net cash inflow from operating activities before restructuring costs		
7,418		
			
Payments in respect of fundamental reorganisation/restructuring		
0		
			
Net cash inflow from operating activities		
7,418		
			
19.2 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net funds			
			
		
£000		
		
Decrease in cash in the period		
(2,765)
Cash (inflow) from new debt		
0
Cash outflow from debt repaid 		
3,417
Cash (inflow)/outflow from (decrease)/increase in liquid resources		
0
Change in net funds resulting from cash flows		
652
Non-cash changes in funds		
0
Net funds at 1st December 2008		
614
Net funds at 31st March 2009		
1,266

19.3 Analysis of changes in net funds				
At 1st
December 2008
£000
Commercial cash at bank and in hand
2
OPG cash at bank
9,511
Bank overdraft
0
Loan from DH due within one year
(3,834)
Other debt due within one year
0
Loan from DH due after one year
(5,065)
Other debt due after one year
0
Finance leases
0
Current asset investments
0
614
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Other cash changes
in the period
£000
7
(2,772)
0
3,417
0
0
0
0
0
652

Non-cash changes
At 31st
in the period March 2009
£000
£000
0
9
0
6,739
0
0
(1,915)
(2,332)
0
0
1,915
(3,150)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1,266

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

24. PRIVATE FINANCE TRANSACTIONS

The Trust has contractual capital commitments as at the
31st March 2009 of £1,112,000 (November 30th 2008
£3,623,000)

The NHS Foundation Trust does not have any PFI
schemes which are deemed to be on-balance sheet.

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
21. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
There have been no post balance sheet events.

22. CONTINGENCIES
Contingent liabilities
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net value of contingent liabiliies

£000
0
0
0

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS FoundationTrust
was authorised by Monitor on the 1st December 2008.
During the period none of the Board Members or
members of the key management staff or parties related
to them has undertaken any material transactions with
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related
party. During the year Warrington and Halton Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of
material transactions with the Department, and with
other entities for which the Department is regarded as
the parent Department. These entities are listed below:
North West Strategic Health Authority
Warrington PCT
Halton and St Helens PCT
Western Cheshire PCT
5 Boroughs Partnership NHS Trust
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency

Liquidity Risk
The NHS Foundation Trust’s net operating costs are
incurred under annual service agreements with local
Primary Care Trusts which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Foundation
Trust also largely finances its capital expenditure from
internally generated funds and funds made available
from the Government. The NHS Foundation Trust is not,
therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
Interest-Rate Risk
All of the NHS Foundation Trust’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest.
Warrington and Halton Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
is not therefore exposed to significant interest-rate risk.
Credit Risk
The main source of income for the NHS Foundation Trust
is from Commissioners in respect of healthcare services
provided under local agreements, NHS Contracts. Non
NHS customers do not respresent a large proportion
of income, the majority of this relate to other public
sector bodies which are considered low risk. The NHS
Foundation Trust is not, therefore exposed to significant
credit risk.
Currency risk
The NHS Foundation Trust is principally a domestic
organisation with the great majority of transactions,
assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.
The NHS Foundation Trust has no overseas operations.
The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate
fluctuations.

In addition, the NHS Foundation Trust has had a
number of material transactions with other
Government Departments and other central and local
Government bodies.
The NHS Foundation Trust has also received revenue and
capital payments from a number of charitable funds,
all the Trustees for which are also members of the NHS
Foundation Trust Board.
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25.1 Financial assets			
All financial assets and liabilities are held in sterling and are shown at book value, which also equates to fair value.		
		
25.2a Financial assets by category				
31 March 2009
31 March 2009 01 December 2008
Loans and Assets at fair value
Loans and
receivables
through I & E
receivables
£000
£000
£000
Assets as per balance sheet				
NHS Debtors (net of provision for
irrecoverable debts)
4,649
0
5,685
Accrued income
117
0
475
Other debtors
3,308
0
1,363
Cash at bank and in hand
6,748
0
9,513
Total Financial Assets
14,822
0
17,036
				
				
25.2b Financial liabilities by category				
				
31 March 2009
31 March 2009 01 December 2008
Other financial
Liabilities at fair
Other financial
liabilities value through I & E
liabilities
£000
£000
£000
Liabilities as per balance sheet				
Bank overdrafts
0
0
0
NHS Creditors
2,481
0
3,681
Other creditors
5,409
0
4,662
Loans
5,482
0
8,899
Provisions under contract
1,740
0
1,897
Accruals
6,412
0
5,439
Total Financial Liabilities
21,524
0
24,578

0
0
0
0
0

01 December 2008
Liabilities at fair
value through I & E
£000

26. LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS

28. AUDITORS LIABILITY

There were 34 cases of losses and special payments
totalling £69,000 paid in the period 1st December 2008
to 31st March 2009.

The Audit Commission is is currently the Foundation
Trust Auditors and there is no limit on the Auditors
Liability.

There were no cases exceeding £100,000 in either
current year or prior year.

27. THIRD PARTY ASSETS
The NHS Foundation Trust held £16,181 cash at bank
and in hand which relates to monies held by the NHS
Foundation Trust on behalf of patients. This has been
excluded from cash at bank and in hand figure reported
in the accounts.
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01 December 2008
Assets at fair value
through I & E
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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